제 47 권



# **LOCALIZATION OPERATORS**

M. W. WONG

서 울 대 학 교 수학연구소 · 대역해석학 연구센터 Notes of the Series of Lectures held at the Seoul National University

M. W. Wong
Department of Mathematics and Statistics
York University
4700 Keele Street
Toronto, Ontario M3J 1P3
Canada

펴낸날: 1999년 9월 7일 지은이: M. W. Wong

펴낸곳: 서울대학교 수학연구소·대역해석학연구센터 [TEL:82-2-880-6562]

# **Localization Operators**

M. W. Wong

Department of Mathematics and Statistics
York University
4700 Keele Street
Toronto, Ontario M3J 1P3
Canada

This research has been partially supported by the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada (NSERC) OGP0008562.

#### **Preface**

This is an expanded version of the lectures given at the Global Analysis Research Center (GARC) of the Seoul National University in June, 1999, and at Peking University in July, 1999, at the invitation by Professor Dohan Kim and Professor Lizhong Peng respectively.

A localization operator  $L_F$  on a complex and separable Hilbert space X is a bounded linear operator on X defined in terms of a square-integrable representation of a locally compact and Hausdorff group G on X, and a function F on G. A major result that we prove is that the linear operator  $L_F$  is in the Schatten-von Neumann class  $S_p$  if the function F is in  $L^p(G)$ ,  $1 \le p \le \infty$ . A formula for the trace of  $L_F$  is given in terms of F when F is in  $L^1(G)$ . We then look at localization operators on two specific groups, i.e., the Weyl-Heisenberg group and the affine group. In the case of the Weyl-Heisenberg group, we are led to the class of time-frequency localization operators studied by Daubechies in the paper [1].

If we let  $G = \mathbb{R}^n$  and  $X = L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , and the representation of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is taken to be modulation of a function in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , then, of course, the representation is no longer irreducible and hence cannot be square-integrable. The "localization operator"  $L_F$  in this setting is called a wavelet multiplier and is also in the Schatten-von Neumann class  $S_p$  when F is in  $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ,  $1 \le p \le \infty$ . An interesting fact that we show in Chapter 8 is that the Landau-Pollak-Slepian operator arising in signal analysis is in fact a wavelet multiplier.

Using the basic theory of the Weyl transform which we recall without proof from the book [22] by Wong, we give two product formulas for the wavelet multipliers and a product formula for the Daubechies operators.

The product formulas for wavelet multipliers given in Chapters 9 and 10 are new, while all the other results have recently been published or accepted for publication.

## Contents

Preface		ii
1	Square-Integrable Representations	1
2	Localization Operators	g
3	The Schatten-von Neumann Property	14
4	The Trace	20
5	The Weyl-Heisenberg Group	24
6	The Affine Group	34
7	Wavelet Multipliers	44
8	The Landau-Pollak-Slepian Operator	50
9	A Product Formula for Wavelet Multipliers	54
10	Another Product Formula for Wavelet Multipliers	60
11	A Product Formula for Daubechies Operators	63
References		69
Index		71

#### 1 Square-Integrable Representations

Let G be a locally compact and Hausdorff group on which the left Haar measure is denoted by  $\mu$ , i.e.,

$$\int_G f(gh)d\mu(h) = \int_G f(h)d\mu(g^{-1}h) = \int_G f(h)d\mu(h)$$

for all f in  $L^1(G)$  and all g in G. Let X be a separable and complex Hilbert space of which the dimension is infinite. We denote the inner product and norm in X by  $(\ ,\ )$  and  $\|\ \|$  respectively. Let B(X) be the  $C^*$ -algebra of all bounded linear operators on X, and let  $\|\ \|_*$  denote the norm in B(X). An irreducible and unitary representation  $\pi:G\to B(X)$  is said to be square-integrable if there exists a nonzero element  $\varphi$  in X such that

$$\int_{G} |(\varphi, \pi(g)\varphi)|^{2} d\mu(g) < \infty.$$
 (1.1)

We call any element  $\varphi$  in X for which  $||\varphi|| = 1$  and (1.1) is valid an admissible wavelet for the square-integrable representation  $\pi: G \to B(X)$ , and we define the constant  $c_{\varphi}$  by

$$c_{\varphi} = \int_{C} |(\varphi, \pi(g)\varphi)|^{2} d\mu(g). \tag{1.2}$$

**Theorem 1.1** Let  $\varphi$  be an admissible wavelet for the square-integrable representation  $\pi: G \to B(X)$ . Then

$$(x,y) = \frac{1}{c_{\varphi}} \int_{G} (x,\pi(g)\varphi)(\pi(g)\varphi,y)d\mu(g)$$
 (1.3)

for all x and y in X.

**Remark 1.2** The formula (1.3) is known as the resolution of the identity formula. The mapping from X into functions on G given by  $x \mapsto c_{\varphi}^{-1/2}(x,\pi(g)\varphi), x \in X, g \in G$ , is known as the wavelet transform associated to the admissible wavelet  $\varphi$ .

To prove Theorem 1.1, we need a lemma.

Lemma 1.3 The subspace M of X defined by

$$M = \left\{ x \in X : \int_{G} |(x, \pi(g)\varphi)|^{2} d\mu(g) < \infty \right\}$$
 (1.4)

is a closed subspace of X.

**Proof of Theorem 1.1:** For  $x \in M$  and  $h \in G$ , we obtain, by (1.4),

$$\begin{split} \int_G |(\pi(h)x,\pi(g)\varphi)|^2 d\mu(g) &= \int_G |(x,\pi(h^{-1}g)\varphi)|^2 d\mu(g) \\ &= \int_G |(x,\pi(g)\varphi)|^2 d\mu(g) < \infty, \end{split}$$

and hence, by (1.4),  $\pi(h)x \in M$  for all x in M and h in G. Therefore, using the fact that  $\varphi \in M$ , M is a nonzero subspace of X which is invariant with respect to the square-integrable representation  $\pi: G \to B(X)$ . Thus,  $\overline{M} = X$ , and hence, by Lemma 1.3, M = X. Now, we define the linear operator  $A_{\varphi}: X \to L^2(G)$  by

$$(A_{\varphi}x)(g) = (x, \pi(g)\varphi), \quad x \in X, \ g \in G.$$
 (1.5)

Then, for  $x \in X$ , and  $g, h \in G$ , by (1.5), we have

$$(A_{\varphi}\pi(h)x)(g) = (\pi(h)x, \pi(g)\varphi)$$
$$= (x, \pi(h^{-1}g)\varphi)$$
$$= (A_{\varphi}x)(h^{-1}g),$$

and so,

$$A_{\varphi}\pi(h) = L(h)A_{\varphi},\tag{1.6}$$

where

$$(L(h)f)(g) = f(h^{-1}g), \quad g, h \in G,$$
 (1.7)

for all f in  $L^2(G)$ . Let  $\{x_k\}$  be a sequence of elements in X such that  $x_k \to x$  in X and  $A_{\varphi}x_k \to f$  in  $L^2(G)$  as  $k \to \infty$ . Then there is a subsequence of  $\{A_{\varphi}x_k\}$ , again denoted by  $\{A_{\varphi}x_k\}$ , such that

$$A_{\varphi}x_k \to f \tag{1.8}$$

a.e. on G as  $k \to \infty$ . Since

$$(x_k, \pi(g)\varphi) \to (x, \pi(g)\varphi), \quad g \in G,$$

as  $k \to \infty$ , it follows from (1.5) that

$$(A_{\varphi}x_k)(g) \to (A_{\varphi}x)(g), \quad g \in G.$$
 (1.9)

Thus, by (1.8) and (1.9),  $A_{\varphi}x = f$ . Hence  $A_{\varphi}: X \to L^2(G)$  is a closed linear operator, and, by the closed graph theorem,  $A_{\varphi}: X \to L^2(G)$  is a bounded linear operator. Finally, for all x and y in X, we get, by (1.5)–(1.7),

$$(A_{\varphi}^*L(g)A_{\varphi}x, y) = (L(g)A_{\varphi}x, A_{\varphi}y)_{L^2(G)}$$

$$= \int_G (A_{\varphi}x)(g^{-1}h)\overline{(A_{\varphi}y)(h)}d\mu(h)$$

$$= \int_G (A_{\varphi}x)(h)\overline{(A_{\varphi}y)(gh)}d\mu(h)$$

$$= (A_{\varphi}x, L(g^{-1})A_{\varphi}y)_{L^2(G)}$$

$$= (A_{\varphi}x, A_{\varphi}\pi(g^{-1})y)_{L^2(G)}$$

$$= (\pi(g)A_{\varphi}^*A_{\varphi}x, y), \quad g \in G,$$

where  $A_{\varphi}^*$  is the adjoint of  $A_{\varphi}$ , and hence

$$A_{\varphi}^* L(g) A_{\varphi} = \pi(g) A_{\varphi}^* A_{\varphi}, \quad g \in G.$$
 (1.10)

Moreover, by (1.6),

$$A_{\omega}^* L(g) A_{\varphi} = A_{\omega}^* A_{\varphi} \pi(g), \quad g \in G. \tag{1.11}$$

Thus, by (1.10), (1.11) and the fact that  $\pi: G \to B(X)$  is irreducible, we conclude that there exists a constant c such that

$$A_{\varphi}^* A_{\varphi} = cI, \tag{1.12}$$

where I is the identity operator on X. Thus, for all x and y in X, we get, by (1.12),

$$c(x,y) = (A_{\varphi}^* A_{\varphi} x, y)$$

$$= (A_{\varphi} x, A_{\varphi} y)_{L^2(G)}$$

$$= \int_G (x, \pi(g) \varphi) \overline{(y, \pi(g) \varphi)} d\mu(g)$$

$$= \int_G (x, \pi(g) \varphi) (\pi(g) \varphi, y) d\mu(g). \tag{1.13}$$

Thus, by (1.2) and (1.13),

$$c = c(\varphi, \varphi)$$

$$= \int_{G} |(\varphi, \pi(g)\varphi)|^{2} d\mu(g)$$

$$= c_{\varphi}. \tag{1.14}$$

Hence, by (1.13) and (1.14), the proof is complete provided that we can prove Lemma 1.3.

**Proof of Lemma 1.3:** Let us begin with the observation that if we equip M with the inner product  $(\ ,\ )_{\varphi}$  and norm  $\|\ \|_{\varphi}$  given, respectively, by

$$(x,y)_{\varphi} = (x,y) + (A_{\varphi}x, A_{\varphi}y)$$
 (1.15)

and

$$||x||_{\varphi}^{2} = (x, x)_{\varphi} \tag{1.16}$$

for all x and y in M, then M is a Hilbert space which we denote by  $M_{\varphi}$  and  $A_{\varphi}: M_{\varphi} \to L^{2}(G)$  is a bounded linear operator. Using (1.6), (1.7), (1.15), (1.16) and the fact that  $\pi: G \to B(X)$  is a unitary representation, we get

$$||\pi(g)x||_{\varphi}^{2} = ||\pi(g)x||^{2} + ||A_{\varphi}\pi(g)x||^{2}$$

$$= ||x||^{2} + ||L(g)A_{\varphi}x||^{2}$$

$$= ||x||^{2} + ||A_{\varphi}x||^{2} = ||x||_{\varphi}^{2}$$

for all g in G and x in  $M_{\varphi}$ . Moreover, for all g in G,  $\pi(g): M_{\varphi} \to M_{\varphi}$  is onto. Indeed, using the fact that  $\pi: G \to B(X)$  is a representation and the invariance of M with respect to  $\pi: G \to B(X)$ , we get

$$y = \pi(g)\pi(g^{-1})y$$

for all g in G and y in  $M_{\varphi}$ . Thus,  $\pi: G \to M_{\varphi}$  is a unitary representation of G on  $M_{\varphi}$ , and consequently  $A_{\varphi}$  is a scalar multiple of an isometry from  $M_{\varphi}$  into X. So, by (1.15) and (1.16), there is a positive constant  $\lambda$  such that

$$||A_{\varphi}x||^2 = \lambda ||x||_{\varphi}^2 = \lambda ||x||^2 + \lambda ||A_{\varphi}x||^2, \quad x \in M.$$
 (1.17)

Hence, by (1.17),  $\lambda < 1$  and

$$||A_{\varphi}x||^2 = \frac{\lambda}{1-\lambda}||x||^2, \quad x \in M.$$
 (1.18)

Using (1.18) and the density of M in X, we can extend  $A_{\varphi}: M \to X$  to a bounded linear operator from X into X, which we denote by  $\tilde{A}_{\varphi}: X \to X$ . So, if  $\{x_k\}$  is a sequence of elements in M such that  $x_k \to x$  in X as  $k \to \infty$ , then  $A_{\varphi}x_k \to \tilde{A}_{\varphi}x$  in  $L^2(G)$  as  $k \to \infty$ . Since  $A_{\varphi}$  is a closed linear operator from X into X with domain M, it follows that  $x \in M$ . Therefore M is a closed subspace of X.

**Remark 1.4** Theorem 1.1 is a simplified version of Theorem 3.1 in the paper [8] by Grossmann, Morlet and Paul. By Remark 1.2, the mapping  $c_{\varphi}^{-1/2}A_{\varphi}$ , where  $A_{\varphi}$  is constructed in the proof of Theorem 1.1, is the wavelet transform associated to the admissible wavelet  $\varphi$ .

As an immediate consequence of Theorem 1.1 and Remark 1.4, we give the following corollary.

Corollary 1.5 The wavelet transform associated to an admissible wavelet  $\varphi$  given by  $X \ni x \mapsto c_{\varphi}^{-1/2} A_{\varphi} x \in L^2(G)$  is an isometry of X into  $L^2(G)$ .

We can give some information on the set  $AW(\pi)$  of admissible wavelets associated to an irreducible and unitary representation  $\pi: G \to B(X)$  for an important class of locally compact and Hausdorff groups G. A locally compact and Hausdorff group G is said to be unimodular if on G the left Haar measure  $\mu$  is also the right Haar measure, i.e.,

$$\int_G f(gh)d\mu(h) = \int_G f(h)d\mu(g^{-1}h) = \int_G f(h)d\mu(h)$$

and

$$\int_G f(hg)d\mu(h) = \int_G f(h)d\mu(hg^{-1}) = \int_G f(h)d\mu(h)$$

for all f in  $L^1(G)$  and all g in G.

**Theorem 1.6** Let G be a unimodular group and let  $\pi: G \to B(X)$  be an irreducible and unitary representation of G on X. Then  $AW(\pi) = \phi$  or  $AW(\pi) = \{x \in X : ||x|| = 1\}.$ 

**Proof:** Let  $\mathcal{D}$  be the subspace of X defined by

$$\mathcal{D} = \left\{ x \in X : \int_G |(x, \pi(g)x)|^2 d\mu(g) < \infty \right\}. \tag{1.19}$$

Suppose that  $\mathcal{D} \neq \{0\}$ . Let  $x \in \mathcal{D}$  and  $h \in G$ . Then, using (1.19) and the unimodularity of G,

$$\int_{G} |(\pi(h)x, \pi(g)\pi(h)x)|^{2} d\mu(g) = \int_{g} |(x, \pi(h^{-1}gh)x)|^{2} d\mu(g)$$
$$= \int_{G} |(x, \pi(g)x)|^{2} d\mu(g) < \infty,$$

and hence, by (1.19),  $\pi(h)x \in \mathcal{D}$ . Therefore  $\mathcal{D}$  is an invariant subspace of X with respect to  $\pi: G \to B(X)$ . Thus,  $\overline{\mathcal{D}} = X$ . Let A be the linear operator from X into X with domain  $\mathcal{D}$  defined by

$$(Ax)(g) = (x, \pi(g)x), \quad x \in \mathcal{D}, \ g \in G.$$
 (1.20)

Then, for  $x \in X$ , and  $g, h \in G$ , using (1.20) and the fact that  $\pi: G \to B(X)$  is a representation, we get

$$(A\pi(h)x)(g) = (\pi(h)x, \pi(g)\pi(h)x)$$
  
=  $(x, \pi(h^{-1}gh)x)$   
=  $(Ax)(h^{-1}gh),$ 

and so,

$$A\pi(h) = L(h)R(h)A, \tag{1.21}$$

where

$$(L(h)f)(g) = f(h^{-1}g), \quad g, h \in G,$$
 (1.22)

and

$$(R(h)f)(g) = f(gh), \quad g, h \in G, \tag{1.23}$$

for all f in  $L^2(G)$ . Let  $\{x_k\}$  be a sequence of elements in  $\mathcal{D}$  such that  $x_k \to x$  in X and  $Ax_k \to f$  in  $L^2(G)$  ad  $k \to \infty$ . Then there is a subsequence of  $\{Ax_k\}$ , again denoted by  $\{Ax_k\}$ , such that

$$Ax_k \to f \tag{1.24}$$

a.e. on G as  $k \to \infty$ . Since

$$(x_k, \pi(g)x_k) \to (x, \pi(g)x), \quad g \in G,$$

it follows from (1.20) and (1.24) that

$$(Ax_k)(g) \to (x, \pi(g)x), \quad g \in G.$$
 (1.25)

Thus, by (1.24) and (1.25),  $(x, \pi(\cdot)x) \in L^2(G)$ . Hence

$$\int_{G} |(x, \pi(g)x)|^2 d\mu(g) < \infty. \tag{1.26}$$

Therefore, by (1.19) and (1.26),

$$x \in \mathcal{D}. \tag{1.27}$$

By (1.20), (1.24), (1.25) and (1.27), Ax = f. Thus, A is a closed linear operator from X into  $L^2(G)$  with domain  $\mathcal{D}$ . Let  $\mathcal{D}$  be the Hilbert space in which the inner product  $(\ ,\ )_A$  and norm  $\|\ \|_A$  are given, respectively, by

$$(x,y)_A = (x,y) + (Ax,Ay)$$
 (1.28)

and

$$||x||_A^2 = (x, x)_A (1.29)$$

for all x and y in  $\mathcal{D}$ . Then  $A: \mathcal{D} \to L^2(G)$  is a bounded linear operator. Using (1.21)–(1.23), (1.28), (1.29), the fact that  $\pi: G \to B(X)$  is a unitary representation and the unimodularity of G,

$$\begin{split} \|\pi(g)x\|_A^2 &= \|\pi(g)x\|^2 + \|A\pi(g)x\|^2 \\ &= \|x\|^2 + \|L(g)R(g^{-1})Ax\|^2 \\ &= \|x\|^2 + \|Ax\|^2 = \|x\|_A^2 \end{split}$$

for all g in G and x in  $\mathcal{D}$ . Moreover, for all g in G,  $\pi(g): \mathcal{D} \to \mathcal{D}$  is onto. Indeed, using the fact that  $\pi: G \to B(X)$  is a representation and the invariance of  $\mathcal{D}$  with respect to  $\pi: G \to B(X)$ , we get

$$y = \pi(g)\pi(g^{-1})y$$

for all g in G and y in  $\mathcal{D}$ . Thus,  $\pi: G \to \mathcal{D}$  is a unitary representation of G on  $\mathcal{D}$ , and consequently A is a scalar multiple of an isometry from  $\mathcal{D}$  into X. So, by (1.28) and (1.29), we can find a positive number  $\lambda$  such that

$$||Ax||^2 = \lambda ||x||_A^2 = \lambda ||x||^2 + \lambda ||Ax||^2, \quad x \in \mathcal{D}.$$
 (1.30)

Hence, by (1.30),  $\lambda < 1$  and

$$||Ax||^2 = \frac{\lambda}{1-\lambda} ||x||^2, \quad x \in \mathcal{D}.$$
 (1.31)

Using (1.31) and the density of  $\mathcal{D}$  in X, we can extend  $A: \mathcal{D} \to X$  to a bounded linear operator from X into X, which we denote by  $\tilde{A}: X \to X$ . So, if  $\{x_k\}$  is a sequence of elements in  $\mathcal{D}$  such that  $x_k \to x$  in X as  $k \to \infty$ , then  $Ax_k \to \tilde{A}x$  in  $L^2(G)$  as  $k \to \infty$ . Since A is a closed linear operator from X into X with domain  $\mathcal{D}$ . it follows that  $x \in \mathcal{D}$ . Therefore  $\mathcal{D}$  is a closed subspace of X. Thus, using the irreducibility of  $\pi: G \to B(X)$ , we conclude that  $\mathcal{D} = X$  and the proof is complete.  $\square$ 

Remark 1.7 We give in Chapter 4 a unimodular group G, and an irreducible and unitary representation  $\pi:G\to B(X)$  of G on X for which  $AW(\pi)=\{x\in X:||x||=1\}$ . A different unimodular group G', and a new irreducible and unitary representation  $\pi':G'\to B(X)$  for which  $AW(\pi)=\phi$  are also given. It is worth emphasizing the fact that Theorem 1.6 is false, in general, for non-unimodular groups, and Chapter 5 is devoted to a study of a non-unimodular group for which the conclusion of Theorem 1.6 is not true.

## 2 Localization Operators

In this chapter we address the problem of associating to every function F in  $L^p(G)$ ,  $1 \le p \le \infty$ , a bounded localization operator  $L_F: X \to X$ . The problem of associating a bounded localization operator  $L_F: X \to X$  to a function F in  $L^1(G)$  or  $L^\infty(G)$  is relatively easy and this is tackled first.

Let  $F \in L^1(G) \cup L^{\infty}(G)$ . Then, for any x in X, we define  $L_F x$  by

$$(L_F x, y) = \frac{1}{c_{\varphi}} \int_G F(g)(x, \pi(g)\varphi)(\pi(g)\varphi, y) d\mu(g)$$
 (2.1)

for all y in X. Then we have the following proposition.

**Proposition 2.1** Let  $F \in L^1(G)$ . Then  $L_F : X \to X$  is a bounded linear operator and

 $||L_F||_* \le \frac{1}{c_{\omega}} ||F||_{L^1(G)}.$ 

**Proof:** Let  $x, y \in X$ . Then using (2.1), the Schwarz inequality,  $\|\varphi\| = 1$  and the fact that  $\pi(g): X \to X$  is unitary for all g in G, we have

$$|(x, \pi(g)\varphi)(\pi(g)\varphi, y)| \le ||x|| \, ||y||.$$
 (2.2)

Since  $F \in L^1(G)$ , it follows from (2.1) and (2.2) that

$$|(L_F x, y)| \le \frac{1}{c_{\varphi}} ||F||_{L^1(G)} ||x|| \, ||y||$$

and the proof of the proposition is complete.

We also have the following proposition.

**Proposition 2.2** Let  $F \in L^{\infty}(G)$ . Then  $L_F : X \to X$  is a bounded linear operator and

$$||L_F||_* \leq ||F||_{L^{\infty}(G)}.$$

**Proof:** Let  $x, y \in X$ . Then, using (2.1), the Schwarz inequality and the assumption that  $F \in L^{\infty}(G)$ , we have

$$|(L_F x, y)| \le \frac{1}{c_{\varphi}} ||F||_{L^{\infty}(G)} \left\{ \int_{G} |(x, \pi(g)\varphi)|^{2} d\mu(g) \right\}^{\frac{1}{2}} \left\{ \int_{G} |(\pi(g)\varphi, y)|^{2} d\mu(g) \right\}^{\frac{1}{2}} . (2.3)$$

Now, by (1.3),

$$||x||^2 = \frac{1}{c_{\varphi}} \int_{G} |(x, \pi(g)\varphi)|^2 d\mu(g)$$
 (2.4)

and

$$||y||^2 = \frac{1}{c_{\varphi}} \int_G |(\pi(g)\varphi, y)|^2 d\mu(g).$$
 (2.5)

Hence, by (2.3)-(2.5),

$$|(L_F x, y)| \le ||f||_{L^{\infty}(G)} ||x|| ||y||,$$

and this completes the proof of the proposition.

We can now associate a localization operator  $L_F: X \to X$  to every function F in  $L^p(G)$ ,  $1 , and prove that <math>L_F: X \to X$  is a bounded linear operator. The precise result is the following theorem.

**Theorem 2.3** Let  $F \in L^p(G)$ ,  $1 . Then there exists a unique bounded linear operator <math>L_F: X \to X$  such that

$$||L_F||_* \le c_{\varphi}^{-\frac{1}{p}} ||F||_{L^p(G)},$$
 (2.6)

and  $L_F x$  is given by (2.1) for all x in X and all simple functions F on G for which

$$\mu\{g\in G: F(g)\neq 0\}<\infty.$$

To prove Theorem 2.3, we need a recall of the Riesz-Thorin theorem given in, e.g., Chapter 10 of the book [22] by Wong.

Theorem 2.4 (The Riesz-Thorin Theorem) Let  $(X, \mu)$  be a measure space and  $(Y, \nu)$  a  $\sigma$ -finite measure space. Let T be a linear transformation with domain  $\mathcal D$  consisting of all  $\mu$ -simple functions f on X such that

$$\mu\{s \in X : f(s) \neq 0\} < \infty$$

and such that the range of T is contained in the set of all  $\nu$ -measurable functions on Y. Suppose that  $\alpha_1$ ,  $\alpha_2$ ,  $\beta_1$  and  $\beta_2$  are numbers in [0,1] and there exist positive constants  $M_1$  and  $M_2$  such that

$$||Tf||_{L^{\frac{1}{\beta_j}}(Y)} \le M_j ||f||_{L^{\frac{1}{\alpha_j}}(X)}, \quad f \in \mathcal{D}, \ j = 1, 2.$$

Then, for  $0 < \theta < 1$ ,

$$\alpha = (1 - \theta)\alpha_1 + \theta\alpha_2$$

and

$$\beta = (1 - \theta)\beta_1 + \theta\beta_2,$$

we have

$$\|Tf\|_{L^{\frac{1}{\beta}}(Y)} \leq M_1^{1-\theta} M_2^{\theta} \|f\|_{L^{\frac{1}{\alpha}}(X)}, \quad f \in \mathcal{D}.$$

**Proof of Theorem 2.3:** Since X is a separable and complex Hilbert space of which the dimension is infinite, it follows that there exists a unitary operator  $U: X \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . Let  $F \in L^1(G)$ . Then, by Proposition 2.1, the linear operator  $\tilde{L}_F: L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , defined by

$$\tilde{L}_F = U L_F U^{-1}, \tag{2.7}$$

is bounded and

$$|\tilde{L}_F|_* \le \frac{1}{c_{io}} ||F||_{L^1(G)},$$
 (2.8)

where  $|\cdot|_*$  is the norm in the  $C^*$ -algebra  $B(L^2(\mathbb{R}^n))$  of all bounded linear operators from  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  into  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . If  $F \in L^{\infty}(G)$ , then, by Proposition 2.2, the linear operator  $\tilde{L}_F : L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , defined by (2.7), is also bounded and

$$|\tilde{L}_F|_* \le ||F||_{L^{\infty}(G)}. \tag{2.9}$$

Let  $\mathcal{D}$  be the set of all simple functions F on G such that

$$\mu\{g\in G: F(g)\neq 0\}<\infty.$$

Let  $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and T be the linear transformation from  $\mathcal{D}$  into the set of all Lebesgue measurable functions on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  defined by

$$TF = \tilde{L}_F f, \quad F \in \mathcal{D}.$$
 (2.10)

Then, by (2.8) and (2.9),

$$||TF||_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)} \le \frac{1}{c_{\varphi}} ||F||_{L^1(G)} ||f||_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)}$$

and

$$||TF||_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)} \le ||F||_{L^{\infty}(G)} ||f||_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)}$$

for all functions F in  $\mathcal{D}$ . Thus, by Theorem 2.4,

$$||TF||_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)} \le c_{\varphi}^{-\frac{1}{p}} ||F||_{L^p(G)} ||f||_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)}, \quad F \in \mathcal{D}.$$
 (2.11)

Therefore, by (2.10) and (2.11),

$$\|\tilde{L}_F f\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)} \le c_{\varphi}^{-\frac{1}{p}} \|F\|_{L^p(G)} \|f\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)}, \quad F \in \mathcal{D}.$$
 (2.12)

Since (2.12) is true for arbitrary functions f in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , it follows that

$$|\tilde{L}_F|_* \le c_{\varphi}^{-\frac{1}{p}} ||F||_{L^p(G)}, \quad F \in \mathcal{D}.$$
 (2.13)

Let  $F \in L^p(G)$ ,  $1 . Then there exists a sequence <math>\{F_k\}$  of functions in  $\mathcal{D}$  such that  $F_k \to F$  in  $L^p(G)$  as  $k \to \infty$ . By (2.13),

$$|\tilde{L}_{F_k} - \tilde{L}_{F_j}|_* \le c_{\varphi}^{-\frac{1}{p}} ||F_k - F_j||_{L^p(G)} \to 0$$

as  $k, j \to \infty$ . Therefore  $\{\tilde{L}_{F_k}\}$  is a Cauchy sequence in  $B(L^2(\mathbb{R}^n))$ . Using the completeness of  $B(L^2(\mathbb{R}^n))$ , we can find a bounded linear operator  $\tilde{L}_F: L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  such that  $\tilde{L}_{F_k} \to \tilde{L}_F$  as  $k \to \infty$ . Since each  $\tilde{L}_{F_k}$  satisfies (2.13), it follows that  $\tilde{L}_F$  also satisfies (2.13). Thus, the linear operator  $L_F: X \to X$ , where

$$L_F = U^{-1} \tilde{L}_F U,$$

is a bounded linear operator satisfying the conclusions of the theorem if  $F \in L^p(G)$ ,  $1 . To prove uniqueness, let <math>F \in L^p(G)$ ,  $1 , and suppose that <math>P_F : X \to X$  is another bounded linear operator satisfying the conclusions of the theorem. Let  $Q : L^p(G) \to B(X)$  be the linear operator defined by

$$QF = L_F - P_F, \quad F \in L^p(G).$$

Then, by (2.6),

$$||QF||_* \le 2c_{\varphi}^{-\frac{1}{p}}||F||_{L^p(G)}, \quad F \in L^p(G).$$

Furthermore, QF is equal to the zero operator on X for all F in  $\mathcal{D}$ . Thus,  $Q: L^p(G) \to B(X)$  is a bounded linear operator that is equal to zero on the dense subspace  $\mathcal{D}$  of  $L^p(G)$ . Therefore  $P_F = L_F$  for all functions F in  $L^p(G)$ .

**Remark 2.5** The bounded linear operators  $L_F: X \to X$  introduced in this chapter are dubbed localization operators. The impetus for the terminology stems from the simple observation that if F(g) = 1 for all g in G, then the resolution of the identity formula, i.e., (1.3), implies that the corresponding linear operator is simply the identity operator on X. Thus, in general, the function F is there to localize on G so as to produce a nontrivial bounded linear operator on X with various applications in mathematical sciences. The results in this chapter can be found in Sections 2 and 3 of the paper [10] by He and Wong.

# 3 The Schatten-von Neumann Property

We prove in this chapter that a localization operator  $L_F: X \to X$  associated to a function F in  $L^p(G)$ ,  $1 \le p \le \infty$ , is in the Schatten-von Neumann class  $S_p$ ,  $1 \le p \le \infty$ . We begin with a recall of the definition of the Schatten-von Neumann class  $S_p$ ,  $1 \le p \le \infty$ , and some of its basic properties that we need in this chapter.

Let A be a compact operator from the separable and complex Hilbert space X into X. If we denote by  $A^*: X \to X$  the adjoint of  $A: X \to X$ , then the linear operator  $(A^*A)^{\frac{1}{2}}: X \to X$  is positive and compact. Let  $\{\psi_k: k=1,2,\cdots\}$  be an orthonormal basis for X consisting of eigenvectors of  $(A^*A)^{\frac{1}{2}}: X \to X$ , and let  $s_k(A)$  be the eigenvalue of  $(A^*A)^{\frac{1}{2}}: X \to X$  corresponding to the eigenvector  $\psi_k$ ,  $k=1,2,\cdots$ . We say that the compact operator  $A: X \to X$  is in the Schatten-von Neumann class  $S_p$ ,  $1 \le p < \infty$ , if

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} s_k(A)^p < \infty,$$

and we call  $s_k(A)$ ,  $k=1,2,\cdots$ , the singular values of A. It can be shown that  $S_p$ ,  $1 \le p < \infty$ , is a Banach space in which the norm  $\| \cdot \|_{S_p}$  is given by

$$||A||_{S_p} = \left\{ \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} s_k(A)^p \right\}^{\frac{1}{p}}, \quad A \in S_p.$$

We let  $S_{\infty}$  be the  $C^*$ -algebra B(X) of all bounded linear operators from X into X.

The following properties of  $S_1$  and  $S_{\infty}$  are well-known.

**Proposition 3.1** Let  $A: X \to X$  be a bounded linear operator such that

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} |(A\varphi_k, \varphi_k)| < \infty$$

for all orthonormal bases  $\{\varphi_k : k = 1, 2, \cdots\}$  for X. Then  $A : X \to X$  is in  $S_1$ .

**Proposition 3.2** Let  $A: X \to X$  be a compact operator and let  $s_k(A)$ ,  $k = 1, 2, \dots$ , be its singular values. Then

$$\sup_{1\leq k\leq\infty}|s_k(A)|=\|A\|_*.$$

Further properties of  $S_p$ ,  $1 \le p \le \infty$ , can be found in Reed and Simon [16], Simon [17] and Zhu [24], among others.

The first and foremost result on the Schatten-von Neumann property of localization operators is given in the following proposition.

**Proposition 3.3** Let  $F \in L^1(G)$ . Then the localization operator  $L_F : X \to X$  is in  $S_1$  and

 $||L_F||_{S_1} \le \frac{4}{c_o} ||F||_{L^1(G)}. \tag{3.1}$ 

**Proof:** Let  $\{\varphi_k : k = 1, 2, \dots\}$  be any orthonormal basis for X. Then, using (2.1) and the fact that  $\pi : G \to B(X)$  is a representation, we get

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} |(L_F \varphi_k, \varphi_k)| = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \left| \frac{1}{c_{\varphi}} \int_G F(g)(\varphi_k, \pi(g)\varphi)(\pi(g)\varphi, \varphi_k) d\mu(g) \right|$$

$$\leq \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{c_{\varphi}} \int_G |F(g)| |(\varphi_k, \pi(g)\varphi)|^2 d\mu(g). \tag{3.2}$$

Hence, using (3.2), Fubini's theorem, the Parseval identity,  $\|\varphi\|=1$  and the fact that  $\pi(g):X\to X$  is unitary for all g in G, we get

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} |(L_F \varphi_k, \varphi_k)| \le \frac{1}{c_{\varphi}} ||F||_{L^1(G)} < \infty.$$
 (3.3)

Hence, by Proposition 3.1, the localization operator  $L_F: X \to X$  is in  $S_1$ . To prove the estimate (3.1), let  $F \in L^1(G)$  be a nonnegative function. Then

$$(L_F^* L_F)^{\frac{1}{2}} = L_F. (3.4)$$

Thus, if  $\{\psi_k : k = 1, 2, \dots\}$  is an orthonormal basis for X consisting of eigenvectors of  $(L_F^* L_F)^{\frac{1}{2}} : X \to X$ , we have, by (3.3) and (3.4),

$$||L_F||_{S_1} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} ((L_F^* L_F)^{\frac{1}{2}} \psi_k, \psi_k)$$

$$= \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} (L_F \psi_k, \psi_k)$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{c_{\varphi}} ||F||_{L^1(G)}. \tag{3.5}$$

Now, if  $F \in L^1(G)$  is a real-valued function, then we write  $F = F_+ - F_-$ , where

$$F_+(g) = \max(F(g), 0)$$

and

$$F_{-}(g) = -\min(F(g), 0)$$

for all g in G. Then, by (3.5),

$$||L_{F}||_{S_{1}} = ||L_{F_{+}} - L_{F_{-}}||_{S_{1}} \le ||L_{F_{+}}||_{S_{1}} + ||L_{F_{-}}||_{S_{1}}$$

$$\le \frac{1}{c_{\varphi}} (||F_{+}||_{L^{1}(G)} + ||F_{-}||_{L^{1}(G)})$$

$$\le \frac{2}{c_{\varphi}} ||F||_{L^{1}(G)}. \tag{3.6}$$

Finally, let  $F \in L^1(G)$  be a complex-valued function. Then we write  $F = F_1 + iF_2$ , where  $F_1$  and  $F_2$  are the real and imaginary parts of F respectively. Then, by (3.6),

$$||L_F||_{S_1} = ||L_{F_1} + iL_{F_2}||_{S_1} \le ||L_{F_1}||_{S_1} + ||L_{F_2}||_{S_1}$$

$$\le \frac{2}{c_{\varphi}} (||F_1||_{L^1(G)} + ||F_2||_{L^1(G)})$$

$$\le \frac{4}{c_{\varphi}} ||F||_{L^1(G)},$$

and the proof of Proposition 3.3 is complete.

A consequence of Proposition 3.3 is the following result.

**Proposition 3.4** Let  $F \in L^p(G)$ ,  $1 \le p < \infty$ . Then the localization operator  $L_F: X \to X$  is compact.

**Proof:** We again denote by  $\mathcal{D}$  the set of all simple functions F on G such that

$$\mu\{g\in G: F(g)\neq 0\}<\infty.$$

Let  $\{F_k\}$  be a sequence of functions in  $\mathcal{D}$  such that  $F_k \to F$  in  $L^p(G)$  as  $k \to \infty$ . Then, by (2.8),

$$||L_{F_k} - L_F||_* \le c_{\varphi}^{-\frac{1}{p}} ||F_k - F||_{L^p(G)} \to 0$$

as  $k \to \infty$ , i.e.,  $L_{F_k} \to L_F$  in B(X) as  $k \to \infty$ . Since, by Proposition 3.3,  $L_{F_k}: X \to X$  is in  $S_1$  and hence compact, it follows that  $L_F: X \to X$  is compact.

**Remark 3.5** That Proposition 3.4 is false for  $p = \infty$  can be seen easily by taking the function F on G to be such that

$$F(g) = 1, \quad g \in G.$$

For then, by the resolution of the identity formula (1.3),  $L_F: X \to X$  is the identity operator on X. In view of the hypothesis that X is infinite dimensional,  $L_F: X \to X$  is not compact.

The next task is to prove that a localization operator  $L_F: X \to X$ , where  $F \in L^p(G)$ ,  $1 \le p \le \infty$ , is in the Schatten-von Neumann class  $S_p$ ,  $1 \le p \le \infty$ . To do this, we need the theory of complex interpolation, which we now recall. We omit the proofs, which can be found in Sections 2.1 and 2.2 of the book [24] by Zhu.

Let  $B_0$  and  $B_1$  be Banach spaces in which the norms, respectively, are denoted by  $\| \|_{B_0}$  and  $\| \|_{B_1}$ . We say that  $B_0$  and  $B_1$  are compatible if there is a vector space V such that  $B_0 \subseteq V$  and  $B_1 \subseteq V$ . If this is the case, then the subspaces  $B_0 \cap B_1$  and  $B_0 + B_1$  of V are Banach spaces when equipped with the norms  $\| \|_{B_0 \cap B_1}$  and  $\| \|_{B_0 + B_1}$  given by

$$||v||_{B_0 \cap B_1} = \max_{k=0,1} ||v||_{B_k}$$

for all v in  $B_0 \cap B_1$ , and

$$||v||_{B_0+B_1} = \inf\{||b_0||_{B_0} + ||b_1||_{B_1} : v = b_0 + b_1, b_0 \in B_0, b_1 \in B_1\}$$

for all v in  $B_0 + B_1$ , respectively.

Let  $B_0$  and  $B_1$  be compatible Banach spaces. A Banach space B is called an intermediate space between  $B_0$  and  $B_1$  if

$$B_0 \cap B_1 \subset B \subset B_0 + B_1$$

where the inclusions are continuous. An intermediate space B between  $B_0$  and  $B_1$  is said to be an interpolation space between  $B_0$  and  $B_1$  if any bounded linear operator on  $B_0 + B_1$  which is bounded from  $B_k$  into  $B_k$ , k = 0, 1, is also bounded from B into B.

Let  $S = \{z \in \mathbb{C} : 0 < \text{Re}z < 1\}$  and let B be any Banach space. A function  $f: S \to B$  is said to be analytic on S if for any bounded linear functional b' on B, the complex-valued function  $b' \circ f: S \to \mathbb{C}$  is analytic on S.

Let  $B_0$  and  $B_1$  be compatible Banach spaces. Then we define  $\mathcal{F}(B_0, B_1)$  to be the set of all bounded and continuous functions f from the closure  $\bar{S}$  of S into  $B_0 + B_1$  such that f is analytic on S, and the mappings

$$y \mapsto f(k+iy), \quad k=0,1,$$

are continuous from  $\mathbb{R}$  into  $B_k$ , k=0,1. Then it can be shown that  $\mathcal{F}(B_0,B_1)$  is a Banach space with respect to the norm  $\|\cdot\|_{\mathcal{F}}$  given by

$$||f||_{\mathcal{F}} = \max_{k=0,1} \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}} ||f(k+iy)||_{B_k}, \quad f \in \mathcal{F}(B_0, B_1).$$

For any number  $\theta$  in [0,1], we let  $B_{\theta}$  be the subspace of  $B_0 + B_1$  consisting of all elements b in  $B_0 + B_1$  such that  $b = f(\theta)$  for some f in  $\mathcal{F}(B_0, B_1)$ . Then we can show that  $B_{\theta}$  is a Banach space with respect to the norm  $\|\cdot\|_{B_{\theta}}$  given by

$$||b||_{B_{\theta}} = \inf_{b=f(\theta)} ||f||_{\mathcal{F}}, \quad b \in B_{\theta},$$

and  $B_{\theta}$  is an interpolation space between  $B_0$  and  $B_1$ . We denote  $B_{\theta}$  by  $[B_0, B_1]_{\theta}$ .

The following two results on interpolation spaces will be useful to us.

**Theorem 3.6** Let  $B_0$ ,  $B_1$  and  $\tilde{B}_0$ ,  $\tilde{B}_1$  be two pairs of compatible Banach spaces. Let A be a bounded linear operator from  $B_0 + B_1$  into  $\tilde{B}_0 + \tilde{B}_1$  such that A is a bounded linear operator from  $B_k$  into  $\tilde{B}_k$  with norm  $\leq M_k$ , k = 0, 1. Then, for any number  $\theta$  in (0, 1), A is a bounded linear operator from  $[B_0, B_1]_{\theta}$  into  $[\tilde{B}_0, \tilde{B}_1]_{\theta}$  with norm  $\leq M_0^{1-\theta}M_1^{\theta}$ .

Theorem 3.7 For  $1 \le p \le \infty$ ,

$$[L^1(G), L^{\infty}(G)]_{\frac{1}{p'}} = L^p(G)$$

and

$$[S_1, S_\infty]_{\frac{1}{p'}} = S_p,$$

where p' is the conjugate index of p.

Now, we can come to the main result on the Schatten-von Neumann property of localization operators.

**Theorem 3.8** Let  $F \in L^p(G)$ ,  $1 \le p \le \infty$ . Then the localization operator  $L_F: X \to X$  is in  $S_p$  and

$$||L_F||_{S_p} \le \left(\frac{4}{c_{\varphi}}\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} ||F||_{L^p(G)}.$$

**Proof:** By Proposition 3.3,

$$||L_F||_{S_1} \le \frac{4}{c_{\varphi}} ||F||_{L^1(G)}, \quad F \in L^1(G),$$
 (3.7)

and, by Propositions 2.2 and 3.2,

$$||L_F||_{S_{\infty}} = ||L_F||_* \le ||F||_{L^{\infty}(G)}, \quad F \in L^{\infty}(G).$$
 (3.8)

So, by (3.7), (3.8), Theorems 3.6 and 3.7, the proof is complete.  $\Box$ 

Remark 3.9 This chapter is an exposition of the results in Sections 4–6 of the paper [10] by He and Wong.

#### 4 The Trace

In this chapter, we compute the trace of a localization operator  $L_F: X \to X$  and estimate the trace of any integral power of  $L_F: X \to X$  for any function F in  $L^1(G)$ .

The starting point is the following proposition, which supplements Proposition 3.1.

**Proposition 4.1** Let  $A: X \to X$  be a bounded linear operator in  $S_1$  and let  $\{\varphi_k : k = 1, 2, \cdots\}$  be any orthonormal basis for X. Then the series  $\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} (A\varphi_k, \varphi_k)$  is absolutely convergent and the sum is independent of the choice of the orthonormal basis  $\{\varphi_k : k = 1, 2, \cdots\}$ .

A proof of Proposition 4.1 can be found on, say, page 211 of the book [16] by Reed and Simon.

In view of Proposition 4.1, we can define the trace tr(A) of any linear operator  $A: X \to X$  in  $S_1$  by

$$\operatorname{tr}(A) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} (A\varphi_k, \varphi_k), \tag{4.1}$$

where  $\{\varphi_k : k = 1, 2, \cdots\}$  is any orthonormal basis for X.

Let  $F \in L^1(G)$ . Then the localization operator  $L_F : X \to X$  is in  $S_1$  and we have the following interesting result on its trace.

Theorem 4.2  $\operatorname{tr}(L_F) = \frac{1}{c_{\varphi}} \int_G F(g) d\mu(g)$ .

**Proof:** Let  $\{\varphi_k : k = 1, 2, \cdots\}$  be an orthonormal basis for X. Then, using (2.1), (4.1), Fubini's theorem, the Parseval identity,  $\|\varphi\| = 1$  and the fact that  $\pi(g): X \to X$  is a unitary operator for all g in G, we get

$$\operatorname{tr}(L_F) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} (L_F \varphi_k, \varphi_k)$$

$$= \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{c_{\varphi}} \int_{G} F(g) |(\varphi_{k}, \pi(g)\varphi)|^{2} d\mu(g)$$

$$= \frac{1}{c_{\varphi}} \int_{G} F(g) \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} |(\varphi_{k}, \pi(g)\varphi)|^{2} d\mu(g)$$

$$= \frac{1}{c_{\varphi}} \int_{G} F(g) ||\pi(g)\varphi||^{2} d\mu(g)$$

$$= \frac{1}{c_{\varphi}} \int_{G} F(g) d\mu(g).$$

Since  $S_1$  is an ideal in the  $C^*$ -algebra B(X) of all bounded linear operators from X into X, it follows that, for  $m = 1, 2, \dots$ , the linear operator  $L_F^m: X \to X$  is in  $S_1$ . The following theorem gives an estimate for the trace  $\operatorname{tr}(L_F^m)$  of  $L_F^m: X \to X$  in terms of the trace  $\operatorname{tr}(L_{|F|})$  of the localization operator  $L_{|F|}: X \to X$ .

**Theorem 4.3** For  $m = 1, 2, \dots,$ 

$$|\operatorname{tr}(L_F^m)| \le (\operatorname{tr}(L_{|F|}))^m$$
.

To prove Theorem 4.3, we need the following lemma, which is an immediate consequence of (2.1).

**Lemma 4.4**  $L_F^* = L_{\bar{F}}$ .

**Proof of Theorem 4.3:** Let  $\{\varphi_k : k = 1, 2, \cdots\}$  be an orthonormal basis for X. Then, by (2.1), Proposition 2.1, (4.1), Lemma 4.4, Fubini's theorem, the Schwarz inequality, the Parseval identity,  $\|\varphi\| = 1$  and the fact that  $\pi(g): X \to X$  is a unitary operator for all g in G, we get

$$|\operatorname{tr}(L_F^m)| = \left| \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} (L_F^m \varphi_k, \varphi_k) \right| = \left| \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} (L_F \varphi_k, L_{\bar{F}}^{m-1} \varphi_k) \right|$$

$$= \left| \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{c_{\varphi}} \int_{G} F(g)(\varphi_{k}, \pi(g)\varphi)(\pi(g)\varphi, L_{F}^{m-1}\varphi_{k}) d\mu(g) \right|$$

$$= \left| \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{c_{\varphi}} \int_{G} F(g)(\varphi_{k}, \pi(g)\varphi)(L_{F}^{m-1}\pi(g)\varphi, \varphi_{k}) d\mu(g) \right|$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{c_{\varphi}} \int_{G} |F(g)| \left( \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} |(\varphi_{k}, \pi(g)\varphi)|^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left( \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} |(L_{F}^{m-1}\pi(g)\varphi, \varphi_{k})|^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} d\mu(g)$$

$$= \frac{1}{c_{\varphi}} \int_{G} |F(g)| \|\pi(g)\varphi\| \|L_{F}^{m-1}\pi(g)\varphi\| d\mu(g)$$

$$\leq \left( \frac{1}{c_{\varphi}} \int_{G} |F(g)| d\mu(g) \right)^{m}. \tag{4.2}$$

Thus, by Theorem 4.2 and (4.2), the proof is complete.

A consequence of Theorem 4.3 is the following result on the norm of the localization operator  $L_F: X \to X$  in the Schatten-von Neumann class  $S_p$  when F is a nonnegative function in  $L^1(G)$  and p is a positive integer.

**Corollary 4.5** Let F be a nonnegative function in  $L^1(G)$ . Then, for  $p = 1, 2, \dots$ ,

$$||L_F||_{S_p} \le \operatorname{tr}(L_F).$$

Moreover,

$$||L_F||_{S_1} = \operatorname{tr}(L_F).$$

**Proof:** Since F is a nonnegative function in  $L^1(G)$ , it follows from (2.1) that  $L_F: X \to X$  is a positive operator. Thus, the singular values of  $L_F: X \to X$  coincide with the eigenvalues of  $L_F: X \to X$ . So,

$$||L_F||_{S_p} = \left(\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} (L_F^p \psi_k, \psi_k)\right)^{\frac{1}{p}},$$
 (4.3)

where  $\{\psi_k : k = 1, 2, \dots\}$  is an orthonormal basis for X consisting of eigenvectors of  $L_F : X \to X$ . By (4.1), (4.3) and Theorem 4.3,

$$||L_F||_{S_p} = (\operatorname{tr}(L_F^p))^{\frac{1}{p}} \le \operatorname{tr}(L_F)$$

for 
$$p=1,2,\cdots$$
. If  $p=1$ , then, by (4.1) and (4.3), 
$$\|L_F\|_{S_1}=\operatorname{tr}(L_F).$$

Remark 4.6 The results in this chapter are taken from the paper [4] by Du and Wong

### 5 The Weyl-Heisenberg Group

We show in this chapter that localization operators on the Weyl-Heisenberg group are the same as the linear operators studied by Daubechies in the paper [1] on signal analysis. We begin with a detailed study of the Weyl-Heisenberg group.

Let  $\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n = \{(q, p) : q, p \in \mathbb{R}^n\}$  and let  $\mathbb{Z}$  be the set of all integers. Let  $(WH)^n = \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}/2\pi\mathbb{Z}$ . Then we define the binary operation  $\cdot$  on  $(WH)^n$  by

$$(q_1, p_1, t_1) \cdot (q_2, p_2, t_2) = (q_1 + q_2, p_1 + p_2, t_1 + t_2 + q_1 \cdot p_2)$$
 (5.1)

for all points  $(q_1, p_1, t_1)$  and  $(q_2, p_2, t_2)$  in  $(WH)^n$ , where  $q_1 \cdot p_2$  is the Euclidean inner product of  $q_1$  and  $p_2$  in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ ;  $t_1, t_2$  and  $t_1 + t_2 + q_1 \cdot p_2$  are cosets in the quotient group  $\mathbb{R}/2\pi\mathbb{Z}$  in which the group law is addition modulo  $2\pi$ . It is easy to prove the following proposition and we omit the proof.

**Proposition 5.1** With respect to the multiplication  $\cdot$  defined by (5.1),  $(WH)^n$  is a non-abelian group in which (0,0,0) is the identity element and the inverse element of (q, p, t) is  $(-q, -p, -t + q \cdot p)$  for all (q, p, t) in  $(WH)^n$ .

**Remark 5.2** To simplify the notation a little bit, we identify  $\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n$  with  $\mathbb{C}^n$ . Thus,  $(WH)^n = \mathbb{C}^n \times \mathbb{R}/2\pi\mathbb{Z}$  which can also be identified with  $\mathbb{C}^n \times [0, 2\pi] = \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n \times [0, 2\pi]$ .

**Proposition 5.3** The Lebesgue measure dqdpdt on  $\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n \times [0, 2\pi]$  is the left (and right) Haar measure on  $(WH)^n$ .

**Proof:** To prove left invariance, let f be an integrable function on  $(WH)^n$ . It is helpful to think of f as a function on  $\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}$  such that  $f(q, p, \cdot)$ 

is a periodic function with period  $2\pi$  for fixed but arbitrary q and p in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . Then, for all (z', t') in  $(WH)^n$ , we get

$$\int_{(WH)^n} f((z',t') \cdot (z,t)) dz dt$$

$$= \int_0^{2\pi} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} f(q'+q,p'+p,t'+t+q'\cdot p) dq dp dt$$

$$= \int_{t'+q'\cdot p}^{2\pi+t'+q'\cdot p} \int_{\mathbb{C}^n} f(z,s) dz ds$$

$$= \int_0^{2\pi} \int_{\mathbb{C}^n} f(z,s) dz ds$$

$$= \int_{(WH)^n}^{2\pi} f(z,t) dz dt.$$

The proof for right invariance is similar.

**Remark 5.4** With respect to the multiplication  $\cdot$  defined by (5.1),  $(WH)^n$  is a locally compact and Hausdorff group in which the left (and right) Haar measure is the Lebesgue measure on  $\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n \times [0, 2\pi]$ . We call  $(WH)^n$  the Weyl-Heisenberg group. In light of the existence of a left (and right) Haar measure on  $(WH)^n$ ,  $(WH)^n$  is unimodular.

Let 
$$\pi: (WH)^n \to B(L^2(\mathbb{R}^n))$$
 be the mapping defined by 
$$(\pi(q,p,t)f)(x) = e^{i(p\cdot x - q\cdot p + t)}f(x-q), \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^n, \tag{5.2}$$

for all points (q, p, t) in  $(WH)^n$  and all functions f in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

**Proposition 5.5**  $\pi: (WH)^n \to B(L^2(\mathbb{R}^n))$  is a representation of  $(WH)^n$  on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

**Proof:** Let  $(q_1, p_1, t_1)$  and  $(q_2, p_2, t_2)$  be points in  $(WH)^n$ . Then, for all functions f in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , by (5.2),

$$(\pi(q_{1}, p_{1}, t_{1})(\pi(q_{2}, p_{2}, t_{2})f))(x)$$

$$= e^{i(p_{1} \cdot x - q_{1} \cdot p_{1} + t_{1})}(\pi(q_{2}, p_{2}, t_{2})f)(x - q_{1})$$

$$= e^{i(p_{1} \cdot x - q_{1} \cdot p_{1} + t_{1})}e^{i(p_{2} \cdot (x - q_{1}) - q_{2} \cdot p_{2} + t_{2})}f(x - q_{2} - q_{1})$$

$$= e^{i((p_{1} + p_{2}) \cdot x - (p_{1} + p_{2}) \cdot q_{1} + t_{1} + t_{2} - q_{2} \cdot p_{2})}f(x - (q_{1} + q_{2}))$$
(5.3)

and

$$(\pi((q_1, p_1, t_1) \cdot (q_2, p_2, t_2))f)(x)$$

$$= (\pi(q_1 + q_2, p_1 + p_2, t_1 + t_2 + q_1 \cdot p_2)f)(x)$$

$$= e^{i((p_1 + p_2) \cdot x - q_1 \cdot p_1 - q_2 \cdot p_2 + t_1 + t_2)} f(x - (q_1 + q_2))$$
(5.4)

for all x in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . Hence, by (5.3) and (5.4),

$$\pi(q_1, p_1, t_1)\pi(q_2, p_2, t_2) = \pi((q_1, p_1, t_1) \cdot (q_2, p_2, t_2))$$

for all points  $(q_1, p_1, t_1)$  and  $(q_2, p_2, t_2)$  in  $(WH)^n$ . It remains to prove that  $\pi(q, p, t) f \to f$  in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  as  $(q, p, t) \to (0, 0, 0)$  for all functions f in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . But

$$\|\pi(q, p, t)f - f\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{2}$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left| e^{i(p \cdot x - q \cdot p + t)} f(x - q) - f(x) \right|^{2} dx$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left| e^{i(p \cdot x - q \cdot p + t)} \{ f(x - q) - f(x) \} + \left\{ e^{i(p \cdot x - q \cdot p + t)} - 1 \right\} f(x) \right|^{2} dx$$

$$\leq 2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |f(x - q) - f(x)|^{2} dx + 2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left| \left( e^{i(p \cdot x - q \cdot p + t)} - 1 \right) f(x) \right|^{2} dx (5.5)$$

for all (q, p, t) in  $(WH)^n$  and all functions f in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . By the  $L^2$ -continuity of translations,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |f(x-q) - f(x)|^2 dx \longrightarrow 0$$
 (5.6)

as  $q \to 0$ . For almost all x in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ ,

$$\left| \left( e^{i(p \cdot x - q \cdot p + t)} - 1 \right) f(x) \right|^2 \longrightarrow 0 \tag{5.7}$$

as  $(q, p, t) \to (0, 0, 0)$ , and

$$\left| \left( e^{i(p \cdot x - q \cdot p + t)} - 1 \right) f(x) \right|^2 \le 4 |f(x)|^2.$$
 (5.8)

Hence, by (5.7), (5.8) and the Lebesgue dominated convergence theorem,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left| \left( e^{i(p \cdot x - q \cdot p + t)} - 1 \right) f(x) \right|^2 dx \longrightarrow 0 \tag{5.9}$$

as  $(q, p, t) \rightarrow (0, 0, 0)$ . Hence, by (5.5), (5.6) and (5.9),

$$\|\pi(q,p,t)f - f\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)} \longrightarrow 0$$

as  $(q, p, t) \rightarrow (0, 0, 0)$ , and the proof is complete.

The following theorem gives us all the information that we want to know about the representation  $\pi: (WH)^n \to B(L^2(\mathbb{R}^n))$ .

**Theorem 5.6** For all functions f and g in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , we have

$$\int_{(WH)^n} |\langle f, \pi(z, t)g \rangle|^2 dz dt = (2\pi)^{n+1} ||f||_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2 ||g||_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2, \tag{5.10}$$

where  $\langle , \rangle$  is the inner product in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

**Remark 5.7** The proof of Theorem 5.6 requires some basic knowledge of Fourier analysis, which we assume. Standard references include the books by Goldberg [6], Stein and Weiss [21] and Wong [23]. Notwithstanding these comments, it is essential to make note that the Fourier transform  $\hat{f}$  of a function f in  $L^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$  that we adopt is the one given by

$$\hat{f}(\xi) = (2\pi)^{-n/2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} e^{-ix\cdot\xi} f(x) dx, \quad \xi \in \mathbb{R}^n.$$

**Proof of Theorem 5.6:** We begin with the case when both f and g are in the Schwartz space S of functions on  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . If we denote the left hand side of (5.10) by I(f,g), then

$$I(f,g) = \int_{0}^{2\pi} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} f(x)e^{-i(p\cdot x - q\cdot p + t)} \overline{g(x-q)} dx \right|^{2} dq dp dt$$

$$= 2\pi \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} e^{-ip\cdot x} f(x) \overline{g(x-q)} dx \right|^{2} dq dp$$

$$= (2\pi)^{n+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left| (2\pi)^{-\frac{n}{2}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} e^{-ip\cdot x} f(x) (T_{-q}\overline{g})(x) dx \right|^{2} dq dp$$

$$= (2\pi)^{n+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left| (fT_{-q}\overline{g})^{\wedge}(p) dx \right|^{2} dq dp, \qquad (5.11)$$

where  $(T_{-q}\bar{g}) = \bar{g}(x-q), x, q \in \mathbb{R}^n$ . So, by (5.11), Plancherel's theorem and Fubini's theorem,

$$\begin{split} I(f,g) &= (2\pi)^{n+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |f(x)g(x-q)|^2 dx dp \\ &= (2\pi)^{n+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |f(x)|^2 \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |g(x-q)|^2 dp \right) dx \\ &= (2\pi)^{n+1} ||f||_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2 ||g||_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2. \end{split}$$

Now, for  $f, g \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , let  $\{f_k\}$  and  $\{g_k\}$  be sequences in S such that  $f_k \to f$  in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and  $g_k \to g$  in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  as  $k \to \infty$ . Then, by what we have just shown,

$$I(f_k, g_k) \longrightarrow (2\pi)^{n+1} ||f||_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)} ||g||_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)}$$
 (5.12)

as  $k \to \infty$ . Also,

$$\langle f_k, \pi(z, t)g_k \rangle \longrightarrow \langle f, \pi(z, t)g \rangle$$
 (5.13)

for all (z,t) in  $(WH)^n$  as  $k\to\infty$ . Furthermore, for all k and j,

$$|\langle f_k, \pi(x, t)g_k \rangle - \langle f_j, \pi(z, t)g_j \rangle|^2$$

$$= |\langle f_k - f_j, \pi(z, t)g_k \rangle + \langle f_j, \pi(z, t)(g_k - g_j) \rangle|^2$$

$$\leq 2|\langle f_k - f_j, \pi(z, t)g_k \rangle|^2 + 2|\langle f_j, \pi(z, t)(g_k - g_j) \rangle|^2,$$

and hence, using (5.10) for functions in S, we get a positive constant C such that

$$\int_{(WH)^n} |\langle f_k, \pi(z, t)g_k \rangle - \langle f_j, \pi(z, t)g_j \rangle|^2 dz dt$$

$$\leq C \left( ||f_k - f_j||_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2 + ||g_k - g_j||_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2 \right) \longrightarrow 0$$

as  $k, j \to \infty$ . So,

$$\langle f_k, \pi(\cdot, \cdot) g_k \rangle \longrightarrow h$$
 (5.14)

for some h in  $L^2((WH)^n)$  as  $k \to \infty$ . Therefore there exists a subsequence of  $\{\langle f_k, \pi(\cdot, \cdot)g_k \rangle\}$ , again denoted by  $\{\langle f_k, \pi(\cdot, \cdot)g_k \rangle\}$ , such that

$$\langle f_k, \pi(\cdot, \cdot) g_k \rangle \longrightarrow h$$
 (5.15)

a.e. on  $(WH)^n$  as  $k \to \infty$ . Thus, by (5.13)–(5.15),

$$I(f_k, g_k) \longrightarrow \int_{(WH)^n} |\langle f, \pi(z, t)g \rangle|^2 dz dt$$
 (5.16)

as  $k \to \infty$ . Hence, by (5.12) and (5.16), the proof is complete.

Corollary 5.8  $\pi: (WH)^n \to B(L^2(\mathbb{R}^n))$  is an irreducible and unitary representation of  $(WH)^n$  on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

**Proof:** That  $\pi:(WH)^n\to B(L^2(\mathbb{R}^n))$  is a unitary representation of  $(WH)^n$  on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is an immediate consequence of (5.2). Let M be a nonzero and closed subspace of  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  which is invariant with respect to the representation  $\pi:(WH)^n\to B(L^2(\mathbb{R}^n))$ . Let g be a nonzero function in M. Then

$$\{\pi(z,t)g:(z,t)\in (WH)^n\}\subseteq M. \tag{5.17}$$

Let  $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  be such that f is orthogonal to M. Then, by (5.17),

$$\langle f, \pi(z, t)g \rangle = 0, \quad (z, t) \in (WH)^n. \tag{5.18}$$

Then, by Theorem 5.6 and (5.18),

$$||f||_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)}||g||_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)} = 0$$

and hence f=0. So, M is a dense subspace of  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . Since M is also a closed subspace of  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , it follows that  $M=L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and the proof is complete.

Corollary 5.9  $\pi: (WH)^n \to B(L^2(\mathbb{R}^n))$  is a square-integrable representation of  $(WH)^n$  on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

**Proof:** Let  $\varphi$  be any nonzero function in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . Then, by Theorem 5.6,

$$\int_{(WH)^n} |\langle \varphi, \pi(z, t) \varphi \rangle|^2 dz dt = (2\pi)^{n+1} ||\varphi||_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)}^4 < \infty, \tag{5.19}$$

and this completes the proof.

Corollary 5.10 Every function  $\varphi$  in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  with  $\|\varphi\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)} = 1$  is an admissible wavelet for the representation  $\pi: (WH)^n \to B(L^2(\mathbb{R}^n))$  of  $(WH)^n$  on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and

$$c_{\varphi} = (2\pi)^{n+1}. (5.20)$$

Corollary 5.10 is an immediate consequence of (5.19).

We can now study localization operators on the Weyl-Heisenberg group  $(WH)^n$ . To this end, let  $\varphi$  be any function in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  such that  $\|\varphi\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)} = 1$ , and let F be any function in  $L^1(\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n)$  or in  $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n)$ . Then, by (5.2) and (5.20), the localization operator  $L_F: L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is given by

$$\langle L_F f, g \rangle = \frac{1}{c_{\varphi}} \int_{0}^{2\pi} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} F(q, p) \langle f, \pi(q, p, t) \varphi \rangle \langle \pi(q, p, t) \varphi, g \rangle dq dp dt$$

$$= (2\pi)^{-n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} F(q, p) \langle f, \varphi_{q, p} \rangle \langle \varphi_{q, p}, g \rangle dq dp \qquad (5.21)$$

for all functions f and g in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , where  $\varphi_{q,p}$  is the function on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  given by

$$\varphi_{q,p}(x) = e^{ip \cdot x} \varphi(x - q), \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^n,$$
(5.22)

for all q and p in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . The localization operator  $L_F: L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is then exactly the same as the linear operator  $D_F: L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  given by

$$\langle D_F f, g \rangle = (2\pi)^{-n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} F(q, p) \langle f, \varphi_{q, p} \rangle \langle \varphi_{q, p}, g \rangle dq dp$$
 (5.23)

for all functions f and g in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , where  $\varphi_{q,p}$  is the function defined by (5.22). The linear operator  $D_F: L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is the localization operator first studied in the paper [1] by Daubechies in the context of signal analysis, and hence we call  $D_F: L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  the Daubechies operator associated to the function F. See also Section 2.8 of the book [2] by Daubechies in this connection. By (5.21), (5.23) and Theorem 3.8, we have the following result.

**Theorem 5.11** Let  $F \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n)$ ,  $1 \leq p \leq \infty$ . Then there exists a unique linear operator  $D_F : L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  in  $S_p$  such that

$$||D_F||_{S_p} \le 4^{\frac{1}{p}} (2\pi)^{-\frac{n}{p}} ||F||_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n)}$$
(5.24)

and, for all functions f and g in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ,  $\langle D_F f, g \rangle$  is given by (5.23) for all simple functions F on  $\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n$  such that the Lebesgue measure of the set  $\{(q,p) \in \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n : F(q,p) \neq 0\}$  is finite.

**Proof:** We only need to check the inequality (5.24). But, by (5.20), (5.21), (5.23) and Theorem 3.8,

$$||D_F||_{S_p} = ||L_F||_{S_p} \le 4^{\frac{1}{p}} (2\pi)^{-\frac{n+1}{p}} ||F||_{L^p((WH)^n)}.$$
 (5.25)

But, by a simple computation,

$$||F||_{L^p((WH)^n)} = (2\pi)^{\frac{1}{p}} ||F||_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n)}.$$
 (5.26)

Thus, by (5.25) and (5.26), (5.24) follows.

As a sharp contrast to the Weyl-Heisenberg group  $(WH)^n$ , we end this chapter by showing that the Heisenberg group  $H^n$  introduced in Chapter 8 of the book [21] by Wong is one on which every irreducible and unitary representation of  $H^n$  on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is not square-integrable, or equivalently, the set  $AW(\pi)$  of all admissible wavelets for any irreducible and unitary representation  $\pi: H^n \to B(L^2(\mathbb{R}^n))$  of  $H^n$  on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is empty.

The Heisenberg group  $H^n$  is the non-abelian group  $\mathbb{C}^n \times \mathbb{R}$  in which the group law  $\cdot$  is given by

$$(z,t) \cdot (w,s) = (z+w,t+s+2\mathrm{Im}z \cdot \bar{w})$$

for all (z,t) and (w,s) in  $\mathbb{C}^n \times \mathbb{R}$ , where

$$z \cdot \bar{w} = \sum_{j=1}^{n} z_j \bar{w}_j.$$

The Heisenberg group  $H^n$  is a unimodular group on which the left (and right) Haar measure is the Lebesgue measure dzdt on  $\mathbb{C}^n \times \mathbb{R}$ .

According to the Stone-von Neumann theorem, every irreducible and unitary representation  $\pi: H^n \to B(L^2(\mathbb{R}^n))$  of  $H^n$  on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is, up to unitary equivalence, given by

$$(\pi(z,t)f)(x) = e^{i\lambda(q\cdot x + \frac{1}{2}q\cdot p + \frac{1}{4}t)}f(x+p), \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^n,$$
 (5.27)

or

$$(\pi(z,t)f)(x) = e^{i(\alpha \cdot q + \beta \cdot p)} f(x), \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^n, \tag{5.28}$$

for all functions f in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , where  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $(\alpha, \beta) \in \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n$  and (z, t) = (q, p, t).

**Theorem 5.12** Every irreducible and unitary representation of  $H^n$  on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is not square-integrable.

**Proof:** Let  $\pi: H^n \to B(L^2(\mathbb{R}^n))$  be an irreducible and unitary representation of  $H^n$  on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . Suppose  $\pi: H^n \to B(L^2(\mathbb{R}^n))$  is given by (5.27). Then, for all  $\varphi$  in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ,

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{\mathbb{C}^n} |\langle \varphi, \pi(z,t) \varphi \rangle|^2 dz dt = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left( \int_{\mathbb{C}^n} |\langle \varphi, \varphi_{\lambda,q,p} \rangle|^2 dq dp \right) dt,$$

where

$$\varphi_{\lambda,q,p}(x) = e^{i\lambda q \cdot x} \varphi(x+p), \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^n.$$

Thus,

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{\mathbb{C}^n} |\langle \varphi, \pi(z, t) \varphi \rangle|^2 dz dt = \infty$$

unless

$$\langle \varphi, \varphi_{\lambda,q,p} \rangle = 0, \quad q, p \in \mathbb{R}^n,$$

or equivalently,

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \varphi(x)e^{-i\lambda q\cdot x}\bar{\varphi}(x+p)dx = 0, \quad q, \ p \in \mathbb{R}^n.$$
 (5.29)

But (5.29) is valid if and only if

$$\varphi(x)\bar{\varphi}(x+p) = 0$$

for almost all x and p in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . Thus,  $\varphi(x)=0$  for almost all x in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , Indeed, if  $\varphi(x)\neq 0$  for all x in a set S with positive measure. Then, for all x in S,  $\varphi(x+p)=0$  for almost all p in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , and this is a contradiction. Hence the representation  $\pi:H^n\to B(L^2(\mathbb{R}^n))$  of  $H^n$  on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is not square-integrable. If  $\pi:H^n\to B(L^2(\mathbb{R}^n))$  is given by (5.28), then, for all  $\varphi$  in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ,

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty}\int_{\mathbb{C}^n}|\langle\varphi,\pi(z,t)\varphi\rangle|^2dzdt=\int_{-\infty}^{\infty}\int_{\mathbb{C}^n}|\langle\varphi,\varphi\rangle|^2dxdt=\infty$$

unless  $\varphi=0$ . Thus,  $\pi:H^n\to B(L^2(\mathbb{R}^n))$  is not a square-integrable representation of  $H^n$  on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

Remark 5.13 This chapter is a detailed, expanded and improved account of the results in Chapter 15 of the book [22] by Wong. An account of the Weyl-Heisenberg group can be found on the paper [12] by Heil and Walnut.

### 6 The Affine Group

We study in this chapter the affine group U, the Hardy space  $H^2_+(\mathbb{R})$ , and an irreducible and unitary representation  $\pi: U \to B(H^2_+(\mathbb{R}))$  of U on  $H^2_+(\mathbb{R})$  for which the set  $AW(\pi)$  of all admissible wavelets for the representation  $\pi: U \to B(H^2_+(\mathbb{R}))$  is a proper subset of the unit sphere with center at the origin in  $H^2_+(\mathbb{R})$ .

Let U be the upper half plane given by

$$U = \{(b, a) : b \in \mathbb{R}, \ a > 0\}.$$

Then we define the binary operation  $\cdot$  on U by

$$(b_1, a_1) \cdot (b_2, a_2) = (b_1 + a_1 b_2, a_1 a_2) \tag{6.1}$$

for all points  $(b_1, a_1)$  and  $(b_2, a_2)$  in U.

**Proposition 6.1** With respect to the multiplication  $\cdot$  defined by (6.1), U is a non-abelian group in which (0,1) is the identity element and the inverse element of (b,a) is  $\left(-\frac{b}{a},\frac{1}{a}\right)$  for all (b,a) in U.

**Proof:** Let  $(b_1, a_1)$  and  $(b_2, a_2)$  be points in U. Then, by (6.1),

$$((b_1, a_1) \cdot (b_2, a_2)) \cdot (b_3, a_3) = (b_1 + a_1b_2, a_1a_2) \cdot (b_3, a_3)$$
$$= (b_1 + a_1b_2 + a_1a_2b_3, a_1a_2a_3)$$

and

$$(b_1, a_1) \cdot ((b_2, a_2) \cdot (b_3, a_3)) = (b_1, a_1) \cdot (b_2 + a_2b_3, a_2a_3)$$
  
=  $(b_1 + a_1b_2 + a_1a_2b_3, a_1a_2a_3).$ 

Thus, the associative law is valid. For all (b, a) in U, by (6.1),

$$(b,a)\cdot(0,1)=(b,a)$$

and

$$(0,1) \cdot (b,a) = (b,a).$$

Thus, (0,1) is the identity element. Finally, let  $(b,a) \in U$ . Then, by (6.1),

$$(b,a)\cdot\left(-\frac{b}{a},\frac{1}{a}\right)=(0,1)$$

and

$$\left(-\frac{b}{a}, \frac{1}{a}\right) \cdot (b, a) = (0, 1).$$

Hence the inverse element of (b, a) is  $\left(-\frac{b}{a}, \frac{1}{a}\right)$ . Therefore U is a group with respect to the multiplication  $\cdot$  defined by (6.1). That the group U is nonabelian is easy to check and hence omitted.

Proposition 6.2 The left and right Haar measures on U are given by

$$d\mu = \frac{dbda}{a^2}$$

and

$$d\nu = \frac{dbda}{a}$$

respectively.

**Proof:** To prove left invariance, let f be an integrable function on U with respect to  $d\mu$ . Then, for all (b', a') in U, we get

$$\int_{U} f((b', a') \cdot (b, a)) d\mu = \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} f(b' + a'b, a'a) \frac{dbda}{a^{2}}.$$
 (6.2)

Let  $\beta = b' + a'b$  and  $\alpha = a'a$ . Then, by (6.2),

$$\int_{U} f((b', a') \cdot (b, a)) d\mu = \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} f(\beta, \alpha) \frac{d\beta d\alpha}{\alpha^{2}} = \int_{U} f(b, a) d\mu.$$

To prove right invariance, let f be an integrable function on U with respect to  $d\nu$ . Then, for all (b', a') in U, we get

$$\int_{U} f((b,a) \cdot (b',a')) d\nu = \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} f(b+ab',aa') \frac{dbda}{a}.$$
 (6.3)

Let  $\beta = b + ab'$  and  $\alpha = aa'$ . Then, by (6.3),

$$\int_{U} f((b,a)\cdot (b',a'))d\nu = \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} f(\beta,\alpha) \frac{d\beta d\alpha}{\alpha} = \int_{U} f(b,a)d\nu.$$

**Remark 6.3** With respect to the multiplication  $\cdot$  defined by (6.1), U is a locally compact and Hausdorff group on which the left Haar measure is different from the right Haar measure. Thus, U is a non-unimodular group, which we call the affine group.

Let  $H^2_+(\mathbb{R})$  be the subspace of  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$  defined by

$$H^2_+(\mathbb{R}) = \{ f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}) : \operatorname{supp}(\hat{f}) \subseteq [0, \infty) \},\$$

where  $\operatorname{supp}(\hat{f})$  is the set of every x in  $\mathbb{R}$  for which there is no neighborhood of x on which  $\hat{f}$  is equal to zero almost everywhere. Similarly, we define  $H^2_{-}(\mathbb{R})$  to be the subspace of  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$  by

$$H^2_{-}(\mathbb{R}) = \{ f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}) : \operatorname{supp}(\hat{f}) \subseteq (-\infty, 0] \}.$$

We call  $H^2_+(\mathbb{R})$  and  $H^2_-(\mathbb{R})$  the Hardy space and the conjugate Hardy space respectively.

**Proposition 6.4**  $H^2_+(\mathbb{R})$  and  $H^2_-(\mathbb{R})$  are closed subspaces of  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$ .

**Proof:** That  $H_+^2(\mathbb{R})$  is a subspace of  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$  is obvious. Let  $\{f_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$  be a sequence in  $H_+^2(\mathbb{R})$  such that  $f_k \to f$  in  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$  as  $k \to \infty$ . Then, by Plancherel's theorem,

$$\hat{f}_k \to \hat{f}$$

in  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$  as  $k \to \infty$ . Then there exists a subsequence of  $\{f_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ , again denoted by  $\{f_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ , such that

$$\hat{f}_k \to \hat{f}$$
 (6.4)

a.e. on  $\mathbb{R}$  as  $k \to \infty$ . Using the definition of  $H^2_+(\mathbb{R})$  and the definition of  $\sup(f_k)$ , we get  $\hat{f}_k = 0$  a.e. on  $(-\infty, 0]$  for  $k = 1, 2, \cdots$ . Thus, by (6.4),

 $\hat{f}=0$  a.e. on  $(-\infty,0]$ . Hence  $f\in H^2_+(\mathbb{R})$ . Therefore  $H^2_+(\mathbb{R})$  is a closed subspace of  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$ . The proof that  $H^2_-(\mathbb{R})$  is a closed subspace of  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$  is similar.

To be specific, only the Hardy space  $H^2_+(\mathbb{R})$  is considered. The discussion is equally valid for the conjugate Hardy space  $H^2_-(\mathbb{R})$ .

Let  $\pi: U \to B(H^2_+(\mathbb{R}))$  be the mapping defined by

$$(\pi(b,a)f)(x) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{a}}f\left(\frac{x-b}{a}\right), \quad x \in \mathbb{R},\tag{6.5}$$

for all points (b,a) in U and all functions f in  $H^2_+(\mathbb{R})$ .

**Proposition 6.5**  $\pi: U \to B(H^2_+(\mathbb{R}))$  is a representation of U on  $H^2_+(\mathbb{R})$ .

To prove Proposition 6.5, we use the subspace W of  $H^2_+(\mathbb{R})$  defined by

$$W = \{ f \in H^2_+(\mathbb{R}) : \hat{f} \in C_0^{\infty}(0, \infty) \}.$$

**Lemma 6.6** W is a dense subspace of  $H^2_+(\mathbb{R})$ .

**Proof:** Let  $f \in H^2_+(\mathbb{R})$ . Then  $\operatorname{supp}(\hat{f}) \subseteq [0, \infty)$ . Let  $\{\varphi_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$  be a sequence of functions in  $C_0^{\infty}(0, \infty)$  such that

$$\varphi_k \to f$$
 (6.6)

in  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$  as  $k \to \infty$ . For  $k = 1, 2, \dots$ , let  $f_k$  be the function in  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$  such that

$$\hat{f}_k = \varphi_k. \tag{6.7}$$

Then  $f_k \in W$ ,  $k = 1, 2, \dots$ , and, by (6.6), (6.7) and Plancherel's theorem,  $f_k \to f$  in  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$  as  $k \to \infty$ . Therefore W is a dense subspace of  $H^2_+(\mathbb{R})$ .

**Proof of Proposition 6.5:** Let  $(b_1, a_1)$ , and  $(b_2, a_2)$  be points in U. Then, by (6.5), we get, for all functions f in  $H^2_+(\mathbb{R})$ ,

$$(\pi(b_1, a_1)\pi(b_2, a_2)f)(x) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{a_1}}(\pi(b_2, a_2)f)\left(\frac{x - b_1}{a_1}\right)$$
$$= \frac{1}{\sqrt{a_1 a_2}}f\left(\frac{x - b_1 - a_1 b_2}{a_1 a_2}\right)$$
(6.8)

and

$$(\pi((b_1, a_1) \cdot (b_2, a_2))f)(x) = (\pi(b_1 + a_1b_2, a_1a_2)f)(x)$$

$$= \frac{1}{\sqrt{a_1a_2}} f\left(\frac{x - b_1 - a_1b_2}{a_1a_2}\right)$$
(6.9)

for all x in  $\mathbb{R}$ . Hence, by (6.8) and (6.9),  $\pi: U \to B(H^2_+(\mathbb{R}))$  is a group homomorphism. It remains to prove that  $\pi(b,a)f \to f$  in  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$  as  $(b,a) \to (0,1)$  for all functions f in  $H^2_+(\mathbb{R})$ . But, by Plancherel's theorem and the elementary properties of the Fourier transform, we get, for all functions f in W,

$$||\pi(b,a)f - f||_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R})}^{2} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left| \frac{1}{\sqrt{a}} f\left(\frac{x-b}{a}\right) - f(x) \right|^{2} dx$$

$$= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} |\sqrt{a}e^{-ib\xi} \hat{f}(a\xi) - \hat{f}(\xi)|^{2} d\xi$$

$$\leq 2 \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} |\sqrt{a}e^{-ib\xi} (\hat{f}(a\xi) - \hat{f}(\xi))|^{2} d\xi$$

$$+ 2 \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} |(\sqrt{a}e^{-ib\xi} - 1)\hat{f}(\xi)|^{2} d\xi. \quad (6.10)$$

For all  $\xi$  in  $\mathbb{R}$ ,

$$|(\sqrt{a}e^{-ib\xi} - 1)\hat{f}(\xi)|^2 \longrightarrow 0 \tag{6.11}$$

as  $(b, a) \rightarrow (0, 1)$  and

$$|(\sqrt{a}e^{-ib\xi} - 1)\hat{f}(\xi)|^2 \le 9|\hat{f}(\xi)|^2 \tag{6.12}$$

for all b in  $\mathbb{R}$  and all a in (0,2). By (6.11), (6.12) and the Lebesgue dominated convergence theorem,

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} |(\sqrt{a}e^{-ib\xi} - 1)\hat{f}(\xi)|^2 d\xi \longrightarrow 0$$
(6.13)

as  $(b, a) \to (0, 1)$ . For all  $\xi$  in  $\mathbb{R}$ ,

$$|\hat{f}(a\xi) - \hat{f}(\xi)|^2 \longrightarrow 0 \tag{6.14}$$

as  $a \to 1$ , and

$$|\hat{f}(a\xi) - \hat{f}(\xi)| \le 2 \sup_{\xi \in \mathbb{R}} |\hat{f}(\xi)| \chi_R(\xi)$$
(6.15)

for all a in  $(\frac{1}{2}, 2)$ , where R is a fixed positive number such that

$$\hat{f}(\xi) = 0, \quad \xi > R,$$

and  $\chi_R$  is the characteristic function on [0, 2R]. Thus, by (6.14), (6.15) and the Lebesgue dominated convergence theorem,

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} |\sqrt{a}e^{-ib\xi}(\hat{f}(a\xi) - \hat{f}(\xi))|^2 d\xi \longrightarrow 0$$
 (6.16)

as  $(b, a) \to (0, 1)$ . So, by (6.10), (6.13) and (6.16),

$$\pi(b,a)f \to f \tag{6.17}$$

in  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$  as  $(b,a) \to (0,1)$  for all f in W. Let  $f \in H^2_+(\mathbb{R})$ . Then, by Lemma 6.6, we can find a sequence  $\{f_k\}$  of functions in W such that  $f_k \to f$  in  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$  as  $k \to \infty$ . Then, for any positive number  $\varepsilon$ , let  $k_0$  be the positive integer such that

$$||f_{k_0} - f||_{L^2(\mathbb{R})} < \frac{2\varepsilon}{3}.$$
 (6.18)

So, by (6.17), (6.18) and the obvious fact that  $\pi(b,a): H^2_+(\mathbb{R}) \to H^2_+(\mathbb{R})$  is a unitary operator for all (b,a) in U, there exists a positive number  $\delta$  such that

$$||\pi(b,a)f - f||_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R})} \leq ||\pi(b,a)(f - f_{k_{0}})||_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R})} + ||\pi(b,a)f_{k_{0}} - f_{k_{0}}||_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R})}$$

$$+ ||f_{k_{0}} - f||_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R})}$$

$$< \varepsilon$$

whenever (b,a) is within  $\delta$ -distance of (0,1). Thus,  $\pi(b,a)f \to f$  in  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$  for all f in  $H^2_+(\mathbb{R})$  as  $(b,a) \to (0,1)$  and the proof is complete.  $\square$ 

**Proposition 6.7**  $\pi: U \to B(H^2_+(\mathbb{R}))$  is an irreducible and unitary representation of U on  $H^2_+(\mathbb{R})$ .

**Proof:** That  $\pi(b,a): H^2_+(\mathbb{R}) \to H^2_+(\mathbb{R})$  is a unitary operator for all (b,a) in U is easy to check and has actually been used in the proof of Proposition 6.5. Let M be a nonzero and closed subspace of  $H^2_+(\mathbb{R})$  such that M is

invariant with respect to  $\pi: U \to B(H^2_+(\mathbb{R}))$ . Let g be a nonzero function in M. Then

$$\{\pi(b,a)g:(b,a)\in U\}\subseteq M.$$

Let  $f \in H^2_+(\mathbb{R})$  be such that f is orthogonal to M. Then, for all points  $(b,a) \in U$ ,

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} f(x)\bar{g}\left(\frac{x-b}{a}\right)dx = 0,$$

and hence, by Plancherel's theorem,

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{ib\xi} \hat{f}(\xi) \overline{\hat{g}(a\xi)} d\xi = 0.$$
 (6.19)

Thus, by (6.19),

$$\hat{f}(\xi)\overline{\hat{g}(a\xi)} = 0 \tag{6.20}$$

for almost all  $\xi$  in  $\mathbb{R}$ . Suppose  $\hat{f}(\xi) \neq 0$  for all  $\xi$  in a set S with positive measure. Then, for all  $\xi$  in S, by (6.20), we get

$$\hat{g}(a\xi) = 0$$

for all positive numbers a. Thus,  $\hat{g}=0$  and hence g=0. This is a contradiction.

To get more information on the irreducible and unitary representation  $\pi: U \to B(H^2_+(\mathbb{R}))$ , we need the following subspace A of  $H^2_+(\mathbb{R})$  given by

$$A = \left\{ f \in H^2_+(\mathbb{R}) : \int_0^\infty \frac{|\hat{f}(\xi)|^2}{\xi} d\xi < \infty \right\}.$$

**Theorem 6.8** For all f in  $H^2_+(\mathbb{R})$  and all g in A,

$$\int_0^\infty \int_{-\infty}^\infty |\langle f, \pi(b, a) g \rangle|^2 \frac{db da}{a^2} = 2\pi \int_0^\infty |\hat{f}(\xi)|^2 d\xi \int_0^\infty \frac{|\hat{g}(\xi)|^2}{\xi} d\xi.$$

**Proof:** Let  $f \in W$  and  $g \in A$ . Then, by (6.5), Plancherel's theorem and the elementary properties of the Fourier transform, we get

$$\int_0^\infty \int_{-\infty}^\infty |\langle f, \pi(b, a) g \rangle|^2 \frac{db da}{a^2}$$

$$= \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left| \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} f(x) \bar{g} \left( \frac{x - b}{a} \right) dx \right|^{2} \frac{db da}{a^{3}}$$

$$= \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left| \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{ib\xi} \hat{f}(\xi) \bar{g}(a\xi) d\xi \right|^{2} \frac{db da}{a}$$

$$= 2\pi \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left| (2\pi)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{ib\xi} \hat{f}(\xi) \bar{g}(a\xi) d\xi \right|^{2} \frac{db da}{a}$$

$$= 2\pi \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left| \left( \hat{f} \left( D_{a} \bar{g} \right) \right)^{\vee} (b) \right|^{2} \frac{db da}{a}$$

$$= 2\pi \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left| \hat{f}(\xi) \left( D_{a} \bar{g} \right) (\xi) \right|^{2} \frac{d\xi da}{a}, \tag{6.21}$$

where

$$(D_a\bar{\hat{g}})(\xi) = \overline{\hat{g}(a\xi)}. \quad \xi \in \mathbb{R}. \tag{6.22}$$

Thus, by (6.21), (6.22) and Fubini's theorem,

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} |\langle f, \pi(b, a) g \rangle|^{2} \frac{db da}{a^{2}} = 2\pi \int_{0}^{\infty} \left( \int_{0}^{\infty} |\hat{f}(\xi)|^{2} d\xi \right) |\hat{g}(a\xi)|^{2} \frac{da}{a}$$

$$= 2\pi \int_{0}^{\infty} |\hat{f}(\xi)|^{2} d\xi \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{|\hat{g}(\xi)|^{2}}{\xi} d\xi \quad (6.23)$$

for all f in W and all g in A. Now, let  $f \in H^2_+(\mathbb{R})$  and  $g \in A$ . Then, by Lemma 6.6, there exists a sequence  $\{f_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$  of functions in W such that

$$f_k \to f \tag{6.24}$$

in  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$  as  $k \to \infty$ . For  $k = 1, 2, \dots$ , we get, by (6.23), (6.24) and Plancherel's theorem,

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} |\langle f_k, \pi(b, a)g \rangle - \langle f_j, \pi(b, a)g \rangle|^2 \frac{dbda}{a^2}$$

$$= 2\pi \int_{0}^{\infty} |\hat{f}_k(\xi) - \hat{f}_j(\xi)|^2 d\xi \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{|\hat{g}(\xi)|^2}{\xi} d\xi \longrightarrow 0$$

as  $k, j \to \infty$ . So,  $\{\langle f_k, \pi(\cdot, \cdot)g \rangle\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$  is a Cauchy sequence in  $L^2(U, d\mu)$ . Hence there exists a function h in  $L^2(U, d\mu)$  such that

$$\langle f_k, \pi(\cdot, \cdot) q \rangle \to h$$
 (6.25)

in  $L^2(U,d\mu)$  as  $k\to\infty$ . Therefore there exists a subsequence of  $\{\langle f_k,\pi(\cdot,\cdot)g\rangle\}_{k=1}^\infty$ , again denoted by  $\{\langle f_k,\pi(\cdot,\cdot)g\rangle\}_{k=1}^\infty$ , such that

$$\langle f_k, \pi(\cdot, \cdot)g \rangle \to h$$
 (6.26)

a.e. on U as  $k \to \infty$ . But, by (6.24)

$$\langle f_k, \pi(b, a)g \rangle \to \langle f, \pi(b, a)g \rangle$$
 (6.27)

for all (b, a) in *U* as  $k \to \infty$ . So, by (6.25)-(6.27),

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} |\langle f_k, \pi(b, a)g \rangle|^2 \frac{dbda}{a^2} \longrightarrow \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} |\langle f, \pi(b, a)g \rangle|^2 \frac{dbda}{a^2}$$
 (6.28)

as  $k \to \infty$ . But, by (6.23), (6.24) and Plancherel's theorem,

$$\int_0^\infty \int_{-\infty}^\infty |\langle f_k, \pi(b, a)g \rangle|^2 \frac{dbda}{a^2} \longrightarrow 2\pi \int_0^\infty |\hat{f}(\xi)|^2 d\xi \int_0^\infty \frac{|\hat{g}(\xi)|^2}{\xi} d\xi. \quad (6.29)$$

Hence, by (6.28) and (6.29), the proof is complete.

Corollary 6.9  $\pi: U \to B(H^2_+(\mathbb{R}))$  is a square-integrable representation of U on  $H^2_+(\mathbb{R})$ .

**Proof:** Let  $\varphi \in A$ . Then, by Theorem 6.8,

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} |\langle \varphi, \pi(b, a) \varphi \rangle|^{2} \frac{db da}{a^{2}} = 2\pi \int_{0}^{\infty} |\hat{\varphi}(\xi)|^{2} d\xi \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{|\hat{\varphi}(\xi)|^{2}}{\xi} d\xi < \infty$$
and this completes the proof. 
$$\Box$$

Corollary 6.10 Every function  $\varphi$  in A with  $\|\varphi\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R})} = 1$  is an admissible wavelet for the representation  $\pi: U \to B(H^2_+(\mathbb{R}))$  of U on  $H^2_+(\mathbb{R})$  and

$$\dot{c}_{\varphi} = 2\pi \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{|\hat{\varphi}(\xi)|^2}{\xi} d\xi.$$

Corollary 6.10 is an immediate consequence of (6.30).

**Remark 6.11** Corollary 6.10 tells us that the set  $AW(\pi)$  of all admissible wavelets for the representation  $\pi: U \to B(H^2_+(\mathbb{R}))$  of U of  $H^2_+(\mathbb{R})$  is nonempty. That  $AW(\pi)$  is a proper subset of  $\{f \in H^2_+(\mathbb{R}) : ||f||_{L^2(\mathbb{R})} = 1\}$  is illustrated by the following example.

**Example 6.12** Let  $\chi$  be the characteristic function on [0,1] and let  $f_0$  be the function in  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$  such that  $\hat{f}_0 = \chi$ . Then  $f_0 \in H^2_+(\mathbb{R})$ . Using the same calculations in the derivation of (6.23), we get

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} |\langle f_0, \pi(b, a) f_0 \rangle|^2 \frac{db da}{a^2} = \int_{0}^{\infty} |\hat{f}_0(\xi)|^2 d\xi \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{|\hat{f}_0(\xi)|^2}{\xi} d\xi.$$
 (6.31)

But

$$\int_0^\infty \frac{|\hat{f}_0(\xi)|^2}{\xi} d\xi = \int_0^1 \frac{1}{\xi} d\xi = \infty.$$
 (6.32)

Thus, by (6.31) and (6.32), the function  $\varphi$  on  $\mathbb{R}$  defined by

$$\varphi = f_0 / ||f_0||_{L^2(\mathbb{R})}$$

is in  $\{f \in H^2_+(\mathbb{R}) : ||f||_{L^2(\mathbb{R})} = 1\}$ , but is not in  $AW(\pi)$ .

Using Theorem 3.8 and Corollary 6.10, the following result on localization operators on the affine group is immediate.

**Theorem 6.13** Let  $\varphi \in A$  and  $F \in L^p(U, d\mu)$ ,  $1 \leq p \leq \infty$ . Then the localization operator  $L_F : H^2_+(\mathbb{R}) \to H^2_+(\mathbb{R})$  given by

$$\langle L_F f, g \rangle = \frac{1}{c_{\omega}} \int_0^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} F(b, a) \langle f, \pi(b, a) \varphi \rangle \langle \pi(b, a) \varphi, g \rangle \frac{db da}{a^2}$$

for all f and g in  $H^2_+(\mathbb{R})$ , where

$$c_{\varphi} = 2\pi \int_0^{\infty} \frac{|\hat{\varphi}(\xi)|^2}{\xi} d\xi,$$

is in  $S_p$  and

$$||L_F||_{S_p} \le \left(\frac{4}{c_{\varphi}}\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} ||F||_{L^p(U,d\mu)}.$$

## 7 Wavelet Multipliers

Let  $\sigma \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . Then we define the linear operator  $T_{\sigma}: L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  by

 $T_{\sigma}u = \mathcal{F}^{-1}\sigma\mathcal{F}u, \quad u \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n),$ 

where  $\mathcal{F}$  and  $\mathcal{F}^{-1}$  are the Fourier transformation and inverse Fourier transformation respectively. The Fourier transform  $\mathcal{F}u$ , sometimes denoted by  $\hat{u}$ , of a function u in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , is given by

$$\mathcal{F}u = \lim_{R \to \infty} (\chi_R u)^{\wedge},$$

where  $\chi_R$  is the characteristic function of the ball with center at the origin and radius R,

$$(\chi_R u)^{\wedge}(\xi) = (2\pi)^{-n/2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} e^{-ix\cdot\xi} \chi_R(x) u(x) dx, \quad \xi \in \mathbb{R}^n,$$

and the convergence of  $(\chi_R u)^{\wedge}$  to  $\mathcal{F}u$  is understood to be in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . It is a consequence of Plancherel's theorem that  $T_{\sigma}: L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is a bounded linear operator.

Let  $\varphi$  be any function in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \cap L^\infty(\mathbb{R}^n)$  such that  $\|\varphi\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)} = 1$ . The aim of this chapter is to make precise the definition of the linear operator  $\varphi T_\sigma \bar{\varphi} : L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , where  $\sigma$  is a function in  $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ,  $1 \leq p \leq \infty$ , and to prove that the resulting bounded linear operator is in the Schatten-von Neumann class  $S_p$ . To this end, we first prove that if  $\sigma \in L^\infty(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , then the bounded linear operator  $\varphi T_\sigma \bar{\varphi} : L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  can be realized as a wavelet multiplier (to be explained) associated to a unitary representation  $\pi : \mathbb{R}^n \to B(L^2(\mathbb{R}^n))$  of the additive group  $\mathbb{R}^n$  on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . This connection explains the impetus for the study of the linear operator  $\varphi T_\sigma \bar{\varphi} : L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and also reveals that the techniques developed in Chapters 1–3 can be exploited.

Let  $\pi: \mathbb{R}^n \to B(L^2(\mathbb{R}^n))$  be the unitary representation of the additive group  $\mathbb{R}^n$  on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  defined by

$$(\pi(\xi)u)(x) = e^{ix\cdot\xi}u(x), \quad x, \, \xi \in \mathbb{R}^n, \tag{7.1}$$

for all functions u in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

**Proposition 7.1** Let  $\varphi$  be any function in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \cap L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  such that  $\|\varphi\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)} = 1$ . Then, for all functions u and v in S,

$$(2\pi)^{-n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \langle u, \pi(\xi)\varphi\rangle \langle \pi(\xi)\varphi, v\rangle d\xi = \langle \varphi u, \varphi v\rangle.$$
 (7.2)

Proof: Using Plancherel's theorem and the fact that

$$(\pi(\xi)\varphi)^{\wedge} = T_{-\xi}\hat{\varphi}, \quad \xi \in \mathbb{R}^n,$$

where

$$(T_{-\xi}f)(x) = f(x - \xi), \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^n,$$

for any measurable function f on  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , we get

$$\langle u, \pi(\xi)\varphi\rangle = (\hat{u} * \hat{\psi})(\xi) \tag{7.3}$$

and

$$\langle \pi(\xi)\varphi, v \rangle = \overline{(\hat{v} * \hat{\psi})(\xi)}$$
 (7.4)

for all  $\xi$  in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , where

$$\psi(x) = \overline{\varphi(x)}, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^n, \tag{7.5}$$

and

$$(\hat{f} * \hat{\psi})(\xi) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \hat{f}(\xi - \eta)\hat{\psi}(\eta)d\eta, \quad \xi \in \mathbb{R}^n,$$

for all functions f in S. Thus, by (7.3)–(7.5), Plancherel's theorem and the fact that

$$(f\psi)^{\wedge} = (2\pi)^{-n/2} (\hat{f} * \hat{\psi}), \quad f \in \mathcal{S},$$
 (7.6)

we get

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \langle u, \pi(\xi) \varphi \rangle \langle \pi(\xi) \varphi, v \rangle d\xi = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} (\hat{u} * \hat{\psi})(\xi) \overline{(\hat{v} * \hat{\psi})(\xi)} d\xi$$

$$= (2\pi)^{n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} u(\xi) \psi(\xi) \overline{v(\xi)} \psi(\xi) d\xi$$

$$= (2\pi)^{n} \langle \varphi u, \varphi v \rangle,$$

and the proof is complete.

Remark 7.2 Formula (7.2) can be considered as an analogue of the resolution of the identity formula (1.3) for the unitary representation  $\pi: \mathbb{R}^n \to B(L^2(\mathbb{R}^n))$  of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

**Proposition 7.3** Let  $\sigma \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and let  $\varphi$  be any function in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \cap L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  such that  $||\varphi||_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)} = 1$ . If, for any function u in S, we define  $P_{\sigma}u$  by

$$\langle P_{\sigma}u, v \rangle = (2\pi)^{-n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \sigma(\xi) \langle u, \pi(\xi)\varphi \rangle \langle \pi(\xi)\varphi, v \rangle d\xi$$
 (7.7)

for all functions v in S, then

$$\langle P_{\sigma}u, v \rangle = \langle (\varphi T_{\sigma}\bar{\varphi})u, v \rangle, \quad u, v \in \mathcal{S}.$$

**Proof:** By (7.3)-(7.5), we get

$$\langle P_{\sigma}u, v \rangle = (2\pi)^{-n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \sigma(\xi) (\hat{u} * \hat{\psi})(\xi) \overline{(\hat{v} * \hat{\psi})(\xi)} d\xi \tag{7.8}$$

for all functions u and v in S. But, by (7.6) and (7.8),

$$\langle P_{\sigma}u, v \rangle = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \sigma(\xi) (u\psi)^{\wedge}(\xi) \overline{(v\psi)^{\wedge}(\xi)} d\xi, \quad u, v \in \mathcal{S}.$$
 (7.9)

Thus, by (7.5), (7.9), Plancherel's theorem and the definition of  $T_{\sigma}: L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) \to L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ , we get

$$\langle P_{\sigma}u, v \rangle = \langle T_{\sigma}(\psi u), \psi v \rangle = \langle (\bar{\psi}T_{\sigma}\psi)u, v \rangle = \langle (\varphi T_{\sigma}\bar{\varphi})u, v \rangle$$

for all functions u and v in S.

Remark 7.4 By Proposition 7.3, the linear operator  $\varphi T_{\sigma} \bar{\varphi}: L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) \to L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$  associated to  $\sigma$  in  $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$  and  $\varphi$  in  $L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) \cap L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$  with the condition that  $\|\varphi\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} = 1$  is a variant of a localization operator studied in Chapter 2. See in particular formula (2.1) for the analogy. Had the "admissible wavelet"  $\varphi$  in (7.7) been replaced by the function  $\varphi_{0}$  on  $\mathbb{R}^{n}$  given by

$$\varphi_0(x) = 1, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^n,$$

we would have obtained

$$\langle P_{\sigma}u,v\rangle = \langle T_{\sigma}u,v\rangle, \quad u,v\in\mathcal{S},$$

i.e.,  $P_{\sigma}$  would have been a "constant coefficient" pseudo-differential operator, or a Fourier multiplier studied in, say, the book [23] by Wong. In view of the fact that the function  $\varphi$  in the linear operator  $\varphi T_{\sigma} \bar{\varphi} : L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  plays the role of the admissible wavelet in the linear operator  $P_{\sigma} : L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , it is reasonable to call the linear operator  $\varphi T_{\sigma} \bar{\varphi} : L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  a wavelet multiplier.

In order to define the linear operator  $\varphi T_{\sigma} \bar{\varphi} : L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) \to L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ , where  $\sigma$  is a function in  $L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ ,  $1 \leq p < \infty$ , and  $\varphi$  is a function in  $L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) \cap L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$  with  $\|\varphi\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} = 1$ , we need some preparations.

**Proposition 7.5** Let  $\sigma \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and let  $\varphi$  be any function in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \cap L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  such that  $\|\varphi\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)} = 1$ . If, for any function u in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , we define  $P_{\sigma}u$  by (7.7) for all functions v in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , then  $P_{\sigma}: L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is a bounded linear operator and

$$|P_{\sigma}|_{*} \le (2\pi)^{-n} ||\sigma||_{L^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}.$$
 (7.10)

**Proof:** By (7.1), (7.7), the Schwarz inequality and the assumption that  $\|\varphi\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)} = 1$ ,

$$\begin{aligned} |\langle P_{\sigma}u, v \rangle| &\leq (2\pi)^{-n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |\sigma(\xi)| |\langle u, \pi(\xi)\varphi \rangle| |\langle \pi(\xi)\varphi, v \rangle| d\xi \\ &\leq (2\pi)^{-n} ||\sigma||_{L^1(\mathbb{R}^n)} ||u||_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)} ||v||_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)} \end{aligned}$$

for all functions u and v in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

**Proposition 7.6** Let  $\sigma \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ,  $1 , and let <math>\varphi$  be any function in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \cap L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  such that  $\|\varphi\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)} = 1$ . Then there exists a unique bounded linear operator  $P_{\sigma}: L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  such that

$$|P_{\sigma}|_{*} \leq (2\pi)^{-n/p} ||\varphi||_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{2/p'} ||\sigma||_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})},$$

and for all functions u and v in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ,  $\langle P_{\sigma}u, v \rangle$  is given by (7.7) for all simple functions  $\sigma$  on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  for which the Lebesgue measure of the set  $\{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n : \sigma(\xi) \neq 0\}$  is finite.

**Proof:** Suppose  $\sigma \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . Then, by (7.1), (7.3)–(7.5), (7.7), the Schwarz inequality and the assumption that  $\|\varphi\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)} = 1$ , we get

$$|\langle P_{\sigma}u, v \rangle| \le (2\pi)^{-n} ||\sigma||_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \left\{ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |(\hat{u} * \hat{\psi})(\xi)|^{2} d\xi \right\}^{\frac{1}{2}} \left\{ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |(\hat{v} * \hat{\psi})(\xi)|^{2} d\xi \right\}^{\frac{1}{2}} (7.11)$$

for all functions u and v in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . By (7.5), (7.6), (7.11) and Plancherel's theorem,

$$|\langle P_{\sigma}u, v \rangle| \leq \|\sigma\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \left\{ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |u(x)\psi(x)|^{2} dx \right\}^{\frac{1}{2}} \left\{ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |v(x)\psi(x)|^{2} dx \right\}^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

$$\leq \|\sigma\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \|\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{2} \|u\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \|v\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}$$

$$(7.12)$$

for all functions u and v in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . So, by (7.12),

$$|P_{\sigma}|_{*} \leq ||\varphi||_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{2} ||\sigma||_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}, \quad \sigma \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n}).$$
 (7.13)

Thus, by (7.10), (7.13) and the interpolation argument used in the proof of Theorem 2.3, the proof is complete.

**Remark 7.7** Propositions 7.5 and 7.6 allow us to define the wavelet multiplier  $\varphi T_{\sigma} \bar{\varphi} : L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) \to L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$  for any function  $\sigma$  in  $L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ ,  $1 \leq p < \infty$ , and any function  $\varphi$  in  $L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) \cap L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$  such that  $\|\varphi\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} = 1$ , as the bounded linear operator  $P_{\sigma} : L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) \to L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ .

We can now give the Schatten-von Neumann property of the wavelet multiplier  $\varphi T_{\sigma} \bar{\varphi} : L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) \to L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ , where  $\sigma \in L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ ,  $1 \leq p \leq \infty$ , and  $\varphi$  is a function in  $L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) \cap L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$  such that  $\|\varphi\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} = 1$ . We begin with the case when p = 1.

**Proposition 7.8** Let  $\sigma \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and let  $\varphi$  be any function in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \cap L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  such that  $||\varphi||_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)} = 1$ . Then the wavelet multiplier  $\varphi T_{\sigma} \bar{\varphi} : L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is in  $S_1$  and

$$\|\varphi T_{\sigma}\bar{\varphi}\|_{S_1} \le \frac{4}{(2\pi)^n} \|\sigma\|_{L^1(\mathbb{R}^n)}.$$
 (7.14)

**Proof:** Let  $\{\varphi_k : k = 1, 2, \cdots\}$  be any orthonormal basis for  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . Then, by (7.7),

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} |\langle P_{\sigma} \varphi_{k}, \varphi_{k} \rangle| = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \left| (2\pi)^{-n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \sigma(\xi) \langle \varphi_{k}, \pi(\xi) \varphi \rangle \langle \pi(\xi) \varphi, \varphi_{k} \rangle d\xi \right|$$

$$\leq \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} (2\pi)^{-n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |\sigma(\xi)| |\langle \varphi_{k}, \pi(\xi) \varphi \rangle|^{2} d\xi. \tag{7.15}$$

So, by (7.1), (7.15), Fubini's theorem, the Parseval identity and the assumption that  $\|\varphi\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)} = 1$ ,

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} |\langle P_{\sigma} \varphi_k, \varphi_k \rangle| \le (2\pi)^{-n} ||\sigma||_{L^1(\mathbb{R}^n)} < \infty.$$

Hence, by Proposition 3.1, the wavelet multiplier  $\varphi T_{\sigma} \bar{\varphi} : L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) \to L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$  is in  $S_{1}$ . The proof of Proposition 3.3 can then be used to prove (7.14).  $\Box$ 

**Theorem 7.9** Let  $\sigma \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ,  $1 \leq p \leq \infty$ , and let  $\varphi$  be any function in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \cap L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  such that  $\|\varphi\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)} = 1$ . Then the wavelet multiplier  $\varphi T_{\sigma} \bar{\varphi} : L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is in  $S_p$  and

$$\|\varphi T_{\sigma}\bar{\varphi}\|_{S_{p}} \leq 4^{\frac{1}{p}} \|\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{\frac{2}{p'}} (2\pi)^{-\frac{n}{p}} \|\sigma\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}.$$

**Proof:** If p = 1, then Theorem 7.9 follows from Proposition 7.8. If  $p = \infty$ , then Theorem 7.9 follows from (7.13). Thus, for 1 , Theorem 7.9 follows from Theorems 3.6 and 3.7, and the endpoint cases <math>p = 1 and  $p = \infty$ .

**Remark 7.10** The contents of this chapter can be found in Sections 1–4 of the paper [11] by He and Wong. The results in this chapter in the setting of a locally compact, Hausdorff and abelian group G instead of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  can be found in the Ph.D. dissertation [9] by He.

## 8 The Landau-Pollak-Slepian Operator

We show in this chapter that the Landau-Pollak-Slepian operator arising in signal analysis is in fact a wavelet multiplier. We begin with a discussion of the Landau-Pollak-Slepian operator.

Let  $\Omega$  and T be positive numbers. Then we define the linear operators  $P_{\Omega}: L^2(\mathbb{R}) \to L^2(\mathbb{R})$  and  $Q_T: L^2(\mathbb{R}) \to L^2(\mathbb{R})$  by

$$(P_{\Omega}f)^{\wedge}(\xi) = \begin{cases} \hat{f}(\xi), & |\xi| \leq \Omega, \\ 0, & |\xi| > \Omega, \end{cases}$$
(8.1)

and

$$(Q_T f)(\xi) = \begin{cases} f(x), & |x| \le T, \\ 0, & |x| > T, \end{cases}$$
 (8.2)

for all functions f in  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$ .

**Proposition 8.1**  $P_{\Omega}: L^2(\mathbb{R}) \to L^2(\mathbb{R})$  and  $Q_T: L^2(\mathbb{R}) \to L^2(\mathbb{R})$  are self-adjoint projections.

**Proof:** By (8.1) and Plancherel's theorem,

$$\langle P_{\Omega}f, g \rangle = \langle (P_{\Omega}f)^{\wedge}, \hat{g} \rangle = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} (P_{\Omega}f)^{\wedge}(\xi) \overline{\hat{g}(\xi)} d\xi$$

$$= \int_{-\Omega}^{\Omega} \hat{f}(\xi) \overline{\hat{g}(\xi)} d\xi = \int_{-\Omega}^{\Omega} \hat{f}(\xi) \overline{(P_{\Omega}g)^{\wedge}(\xi)} d\xi$$

$$= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \hat{f}(\xi) \overline{(P_{\Omega}g)^{\wedge}(\xi)} d\xi = \langle \hat{f}, (P_{\Omega}g)^{\wedge} \rangle$$

$$= \langle f, P_{\Omega}g \rangle, \quad f, g \in L^{2}(\mathbb{R}).$$

Therefore  $P_{\Omega}:L^2(\mathbb{R})\to L^2(\mathbb{R})$  is self-adjoint. By (8.2),

$$\langle Q_T f, g \rangle = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} (Q_T f)(x) \overline{g(x)} dx = \int_{-T}^{T} f(x) \overline{g(x)} dx$$
$$= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} f(x) \overline{(Q_T g)(x)} dx$$
$$= \langle f, Q_T g \rangle, \quad f, g \in L^2(\mathbb{R}).$$

Therefore  $Q_T: L^2(\mathbb{R}) \to L^2(\mathbb{R})$  is self-adjoint. By (8.1), the fact that  $P_{\Omega}: L^2(\mathbb{R}) \to L^2(\mathbb{R})$  is self-adjoint and Plancherel's theorem,

$$\begin{split} \langle P_{\Omega}^{2}f,g\rangle &= \langle P_{\Omega}f,P_{\Omega}g\rangle = \langle (P_{\Omega}f)^{\wedge},(P_{\Omega}g)^{\wedge}\rangle \\ &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} (P_{\Omega}f)^{\wedge}(\xi)\overline{(P_{\Omega}g)^{\wedge}(\xi)}d\xi = \int_{-\Omega}^{\Omega} \hat{f}(\xi)\overline{\hat{g}(\xi)}d\xi \\ &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} (P_{\Omega}f)^{\wedge}(\xi)\overline{\hat{g}(\xi)}d\xi = \langle (P_{\Omega}f)^{\wedge},\hat{g}\rangle \\ &= \langle P_{\Omega}f,g\rangle, \quad f,\,g\in L^{2}(\mathbb{R}). \end{split}$$

Thus,  $P_{\Omega}^2 = P_{\Omega}$  and hence  $P_{\Omega} : L^2(\mathbb{R}) \to L^2(\mathbb{R})$  is a projection. Finally, by (8.2) and the fact that  $P_{\Omega} : L^2(\mathbb{R}) \to L^2(\mathbb{R})$  is self-adjoint,

$$\langle Q_T^2 f, g \rangle = \langle Q_T f, Q_T g \rangle = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} (Q_T f)(x) \overline{(Q_T g)(x)} dx$$
$$= \int_{-T}^{T} f(x) \overline{g(x)} dx = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} (Q_T f)(x) \overline{g(x)} dx$$
$$= \langle Q_T f, g \rangle, \quad f, g \in L^2(\mathbb{R}).$$

Thus,  $Q_T^2 = Q_T$  and hence  $Q_T : L^2(\mathbb{R}) \to L^2(\mathbb{R})$  is a projection.

In signal analysis, a signal is a function f in  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$ . Thus, for any function f in  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$ , the function  $Q_T P_{\Omega} f$  can be considered to be a time and band-limited signal. Therefore it is of interest to compare the energy  $\|Q_T P_{\Omega} f\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R})}^2$  of the time and band-limited signal  $Q_T P_{\Omega} f$  with the energy  $\|f\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R})}^2$  of the original signal f. Using the fact that  $P_{\Omega}: L^2(\mathbb{R}) \to L^2(\mathbb{R})$  and  $Q_T: L^2(\mathbb{R}) \to L^2(\mathbb{R})$  are self-adjoint and the fact that  $Q_T: L^2(\mathbb{R}) \to L^2(\mathbb{R})$  is a projection, we get

$$\sup \left\{ \frac{\|Q_T P_{\Omega} f\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R})}^2}{\|f\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R})}^2} : \quad f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}), \ f \neq 0 \right\}$$

$$= \sup \left\{ \frac{\langle Q_T P_{\Omega} f, Q_T P_{\Omega} f \rangle}{\|f\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R})}^2} : \quad f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}), \ f \neq 0 \right\}$$

$$= \sup \left\{ \frac{\langle P_{\Omega} Q_T P_{\Omega} f, f \rangle}{\|f\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R})}^2} : \quad f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}), \ f \neq 0 \right\}$$

$$= \sup \left\{ \langle P_{\Omega} Q_T P_{\Omega} f, f \rangle : \quad f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}), \ \|f\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R})} = 1 \right\}. \tag{8.3}$$

Since  $P_{\Omega}Q_TP_{\Omega}:L^2(\mathbb{R})\to L^2(\mathbb{R})$  is self-adjoint, it follows from (8.3) that

$$\sup \left\{ \frac{\|Q_T P_{\Omega} f\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R})}^2}{\|f\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R})}^2} : \quad f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}), \ f \neq 0 \right\} = |P_{\Omega} Q_T P_{\Omega}|_*.$$

The bounded linear operator  $P_{\Omega}Q_TP_{\Omega}:L^2(\mathbb{R})\to L^2(\mathbb{R})$  that we have just seen in the context of time and band-limited signals is called the Landau-Pollak-Slepian operator. See the fundamental papers [13, 14] by Landau and Pollak, [18, 19] by Slepian and [20] by Slepian and Pollak for more detailed information.

That the Landau-Pollak-Slepian operator is in fact a wavelet multiplier studied in Chapter 7 is the content of the following theorem.

**Theorem 8.2** Let  $\varphi$  be the function on  $\mathbb{R}$  defined by

$$\varphi(x) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\Omega}}, & |x| \le \Omega, \\ 0, & |x| > \Omega, \end{cases}$$
 (8.4)

and let  $\sigma$  be the characteristic function on [-T, T], i.e.,

$$\sigma(\xi) = \begin{cases} 1, & |\xi| \le T, \\ 0, & |\xi| > T. \end{cases}$$

$$(8.5)$$

Then the Landau-Pollak-Slepian operator  $P_{\Omega}Q_TP_{\Omega}: L^2(\mathbb{R}) \to L^2(\mathbb{R})$  is unitarily equivalent to a scalar multiple of the wavelet multiplier  $\varphi T_{\sigma}\varphi: L^2(\mathbb{R}) \to L^2(\mathbb{R})$ . In fact,

$$P_{\Omega}Q_{T}P_{\Omega} = 2\Omega \mathcal{F}^{-1}(\varphi T_{\sigma}\varphi)\mathcal{F}.$$
(8.6)

**Proof:** By (8.4),  $\varphi$  is a function in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}) \cap L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$  such that

$$||\varphi||_{L^2(\mathbb{R})}^2 = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} |\varphi(x)|^2 dx = \frac{1}{2\Omega} \int_{-\Omega}^{\Omega} dx = 1.$$

So, by Proposition 7.3,

$$\langle (\varphi T_{\sigma} \varphi) u, v \rangle = (2\pi)^{-1} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \sigma(\xi) \langle u, \pi(\xi) \varphi \rangle \langle \pi(\xi) \varphi, v \rangle d\xi$$
 (8.7)

for all functions u and v in S. By (7.1) and (8.4),

$$\langle u, \pi(\xi)\varphi\rangle = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{-ix\xi} \varphi(x) u(x) dx$$
$$= \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\Omega}} \int_{-\Omega}^{\Omega} e^{-ix\xi} u(x) dx, \quad u \in \mathcal{S}.$$
(8.8)

By (8.1),

$$(P_{\Omega}\check{u})^{\wedge}(x) = \begin{cases} u(x), & |x| \leq \Omega, \\ 0, & |x| > \Omega, \end{cases}$$
(8.9)

for all functions u in S, where  $\check{u}$  is the inverse Fourier transform of u. So, by (8.8), (8.9) and the Fourier inversion formula,

$$\langle u, \pi(\xi)\varphi\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\Omega}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{-ix\xi} (P_{\Omega}\check{u})^{\wedge}(x) dx$$

$$= \sqrt{\frac{\pi}{\Omega}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{-ix\xi} (P_{\Omega}\check{u})^{\wedge}(x) dx$$

$$= \sqrt{\frac{\pi}{\Omega}} (P_{\Omega}\check{u})(-\xi), \quad \xi \in \mathbb{R}, \qquad (8.10)$$

for all functions u in S. Hence, by (8.2), (8.5), (8.7), (8.10), Plancherel's theorem and the fact that  $P_{\Omega}: L^2(\mathbb{R}) \to L^2(\mathbb{R})$  is self-adjoint,

$$\langle (\varphi T_{\sigma} \varphi) u, v \rangle = (2\pi)^{-1} \frac{\pi}{\Omega} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \sigma(\xi) (P_{\Omega} \check{u})(\xi) \overline{(P_{\Omega} \check{v})(\xi)} d\xi$$

$$= \frac{1}{2\Omega} \int_{-T}^{T} (P_{\Omega} \check{u})(\xi) \overline{(P_{\Omega} \check{v})(\xi)} d\xi$$

$$= \frac{1}{2\Omega} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} (Q_{T} P_{\Omega} \check{u})(\xi) \overline{(P_{\Omega} \check{v})(\xi)} d\xi$$

$$= \frac{1}{2\Omega} \langle Q_{T} P_{\Omega} \check{u}, P_{\Omega} \check{v} \rangle = \frac{1}{2\Omega} \langle P_{\Omega} Q_{T} P_{\Omega} \check{u}, \check{v} \rangle$$

$$= \frac{1}{2\Omega} \langle \mathcal{F} P_{\Omega} Q_{T} P_{\Omega} \mathcal{F}^{-1} u, v \rangle, \quad u, v \in \mathcal{S},$$

and hence (8.6) is proved.

Remark 8.3 The results in this chapter can be found in Section 5 of the paper [11] by He and Wong.

# 9 A Product Formula for Wavelet Multipliers

The wisdom of Chapter 8 is that a wavelet multiplier can be considered as a filter which time and band-limits a signal. Thus, if we are interested in finding a filter that has the same effect as two wavelet multipliers arranged in series, we are actually seeking a formula for the product of two wavelet multipliers.

We give in this chapter a formula for the product of two wavelet multipliers  $\varphi T_{\sigma} \bar{\varphi} : L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) \to L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$  and  $\varphi T_{\tau} \bar{\varphi} : L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) \to L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ , where  $\sigma$  and  $\tau$  are functions in  $L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ , and  $\varphi$  is a function in  $L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) \cap L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$  such that  $\|\varphi\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} = 1$ . To do this, we need a recall of some basic results without proofs on the Weyl transform from the book [5] by Folland and the book [22] by Wong.

Let  $\sigma \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n)$ . Then the Weyl transform associated to  $\sigma$  is the bounded linear operator  $W_{\sigma}: L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  given by

$$\langle W_{\sigma}f, g \rangle = (2\pi)^{-n/2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \sigma(x, \xi) W(f, g)(x, \xi) dx d\xi$$

for all functions f and g in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , where W(f,g) is the Wigner transform of f and g defined by

$$W(f,g)(x,\xi) = (2\pi)^{-n/2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} e^{-i\xi \cdot p} f\left(x + \frac{p}{2}\right) \overline{g\left(x - \frac{p}{2}\right)} dp, \quad x, \, \xi \in \mathbb{R}^n.$$

$$(9.1)$$

It can be proved that

$$W(f,g)(x,\xi) = V(f,g)^{\wedge}(x,\xi), \quad x,\, \xi \in \mathbb{R}^n, \tag{9.2}$$

where the function V(f,g) on  $\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n$  is the Fourier-Wigner transform of f and g defined by

$$V(f,g)(q,p) = (2\pi)^{-n/2} \langle \rho(q,p)f, g \rangle, \quad q, p \in \mathbb{R}^n,$$
(9.3)

and

$$(\rho(q,p)f)(x) = e^{iq \cdot x + \frac{1}{2}iq \cdot p} f(x+p), \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^n.$$
(9.4)

For all Schwartz functions f and g on  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , the functions V(f,g) and W(f,g) are Schwartz functions on  $\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n$ .

For all functions f and g in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , the functions V(f,g) and W(f,g) are in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n)$ . Furthermore, we have

$$||W(f,g)||_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n)} = ||f||_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)} ||g||_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)}$$
(9.5)

for all functions f and g in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . That the same identity is true when W is replaced by V follows from (9.2) and Plancherel's theorem.

Let  $h \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n)$ . Then, for all functions f in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , we define the function  $K_h f$  on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  by

$$(K_h f)(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x, y) f(y) dy, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^n.$$

Then  $K_h: L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is a bounded linear operator and we call it the Hilbert-Schmidt operator corresponding to the kernel h. The following result, obtained by Pool in [15], is the main ingredient in the derivation of the product formula for two wavelet multipliers.

**Proposition 9.1** Let  $h \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n)$ . Then the Hilbert-Schmidt operator corresponding to the kernel h is the same as the Weyl transform  $W_{\sigma}: L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , and

$$\sigma = (2\pi)^{n/2} \mathcal{F}_2 T h, \tag{9.6}$$

where  $\mathcal{F}_2$  is the Fourier transform on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n)$  with respect to the second variable and T is the linear operator on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n)$  defined by

$$(Tf)(x,y) = f\left(x + \frac{y}{2}, x - \frac{y}{2}\right), \quad x, y \in \mathbb{R}^n, \tag{9.7}$$

for all functions f in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n)$ .

We can now give a formula for the product of two wavelet multipliers.

**Theorem 9.2** Let  $\sigma$  and  $\tau$  be functions in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , and let  $\varphi$  be any function in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \cap L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  such that  $\|\varphi\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)} = 1$ . Then the product of the wavelet multipliers  $\varphi T_{\sigma} \bar{\varphi} : L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and  $\varphi T_{\tau} \bar{\varphi} : L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is the same as the linear operator  $\varphi W_{\lambda} \bar{\varphi} : L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , where  $W_{\lambda} : L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is the Weyl transform associated to  $\lambda$  and

$$\lambda(x,\xi) = (2\pi)^{-n/2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} W(\sigma,\bar{\tau})(\xi,y-x) |\varphi(y)|^2 dy$$
 (9.8)

for all x and  $\xi$  in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ .

The following lemma will be used in the proof of Theorem 9.2.

**Lemma 9.3** Let f and g be functions in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . Then

$$W(\check{f},\check{g})(x,\xi) = W(f,g)(\xi,-x), \quad x,\,\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n.$$

**Proof:** Let f and g be functions in S. Then, by (9.3) and (9.4),

$$V(\check{f}, \check{g})(q, p) = (2\pi)^{-n/2} \langle e^{\frac{1}{2}iq \cdot p} M_q T_p \check{f}, \check{g} \rangle$$
(9.9)

for all q and p in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , where

$$(T_p u)(x) = u(x+p), \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^n,$$

and

$$(M_q u)(x) = e^{iq \cdot x} u(x), \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^n,$$

for all measurable functions u on  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . So, by (9.3), (9.4), (9.9) and Plancherel's theorem,

$$V(\check{f},\check{g})(q,p) = (2\pi)^{-n/2} \langle e^{\frac{1}{2}iq\cdot p} (T_{-q}M_p f)^{\vee}, \check{g} \rangle$$

$$= (2\pi)^{-n/2} \langle e^{\frac{1}{2}iq\cdot p} T_{-q}M_p f, g \rangle$$

$$= (2\pi)^{-n/2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} e^{\frac{1}{2}iq\cdot p} e^{ip\cdot (x-q)} f(x-q) \overline{g(x)} dx$$

$$= (2\pi)^{-n/2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} e^{ip\cdot x - \frac{1}{2}iq\cdot p} f(x-q) \overline{g(x)} dx$$

$$= (2\pi)^{-n/2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (\rho(p,-q)f)(x) \overline{g(x)} dx$$

$$= V(f,g)(p,-q), \quad q, p \in \mathbb{R}^n.$$

$$(9.10)$$

So, by (9.1) and (9.9),

$$W(\check{f},\check{g})(x,\xi) = (2\pi)^{-n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} e^{-iq\cdot x - ip\cdot \xi} V(\check{f},\check{g})(q,p) dq dp$$

$$= (2\pi)^{-n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} e^{-iq\cdot x - ip\cdot \xi} V(f,g)(p,-q) dq dp$$

$$= (2\pi)^{-n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} e^{iq\cdot x - ip\cdot \xi} V(f,g)(p,q) dq dp$$

$$= W(f,g)(\xi,-x), \quad x,\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n.$$

$$(9.11)$$

Thus, by (9.5), (9.10), (9.11), Plancherel's theorem and a limiting argument, the proof is complete.

**Proof of Theorem 9.2:** We begin with the observation that for all functions f in  $L^1(\mathbb{R}^n) \cap L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ,

$$(T_{\sigma}f)(x) = (2\pi)^{-n/2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} e^{ix\cdot\xi} \sigma(\xi) \hat{f}(\xi) d\xi$$
$$= (2\pi)^{-n/2} (\check{\sigma} * f)(x), \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^n.$$
(9.12)

Now,

$$(\varphi T_{\sigma}\bar{\varphi})(\varphi T_{\tau}\bar{\varphi}) = \varphi T_{\sigma}\omega T_{\tau}\bar{\varphi}, \tag{9.13}$$

where

$$\omega = |\varphi|^2, \tag{9.14}$$

and for all functions f in S, we get, by (9.12) and Fubini's theorem,

$$(T_{\sigma}\omega T_{\tau}f)(x) = (2\pi)^{-n/2}(\check{\sigma} * \omega T_{\tau}f)(x)$$

$$= (2\pi)^{-n}(\check{\sigma} * \omega(\check{\tau} * f))(x)$$

$$= (2\pi)^{-n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \check{\sigma}(x-y)\omega(y)(\check{\tau} * f)(y)dy$$

$$= (2\pi)^{-n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \check{\sigma}(x-y)\omega(y) \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \check{\tau}(y-z)f(z)dz\right) dy$$

$$= (2\pi)^{-n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \check{\sigma}(x-y)\omega(y)\check{\tau}(y-z)dy\right) f(z)dz$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} h(x,z)f(z)dz, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^{n}, \tag{9.15}$$

where

$$h(x,z) = (2\pi)^{-n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \check{\sigma}(x-y)\omega(y)\check{\tau}(y-z)dy, \quad x, z \in \mathbb{R}^n. \tag{9.16}$$

By Minkowski's inequality in integral form, Fubini's theorem, Plancherel's theorem and (9.14),

$$\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |h(x,z)|^{2} dx dz\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

$$= (2\pi)^{-n} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left|\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \check{\sigma}(x-y)\omega(y)\check{\tau}(y-z) dy\right|^{2} dx dz\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

$$\leq (2\pi)^{-n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |\check{\sigma}(x-y)\omega(y)\check{\tau}(y-z)|^{2} dx dz\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} dy$$

$$= (2\pi)^{-n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |\omega(y)| \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |\check{\sigma}(x-y)\check{\tau}(y-z)|^{2} dx dz\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} dy$$

$$= (2\pi)^{-n} ||\varphi||_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{2} ||\sigma||_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} ||\tau||_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}.$$

$$(9.17)$$

So, by (9.15)–(9.17) and Proposition 9.1,  $T_{\sigma}\omega T_{\tau}: L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is a Weyl transform  $W_{\lambda}: L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , and by (9.6),

$$\lambda = (2\pi)^{n/2} \mathcal{F}_2 T h. \tag{9.18}$$

By (9.7) and (9.16),

$$(Th)(x,z) = (2\pi)^{-n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \check{\sigma} \left( x + \frac{z}{2} - y \right) \omega(y) \check{\tau} \left( y - x + \frac{z}{2} \right) dy$$

$$= (2\pi)^{-n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \check{\sigma} \left( x - y + \frac{z}{2} \right) \omega(y) \check{\tau} \left( \frac{z}{2} - (x - y) \right) dy$$

$$= (2\pi)^{-n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \check{\sigma} \left( x - y + \frac{z}{2} \right) \omega(y) \check{\bar{\tau}} \left( x - y - \frac{z}{2} \right) dy \quad (9.19)$$

for all x and z in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . For almost all x in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , we get, by (9.14), (9.19), Fubini's theorem, the Schwarz inequality and Plancherel's theorem,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \check{\sigma} \left( x - y + \frac{z}{2} \right) \omega(y) \overline{\check{\tau} \left( x - y - \frac{z}{2} \right)} dy \right| dz$$

$$\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left| \check{\sigma} \left( x - y + \frac{z}{2} \right) \right| |\omega(y)| \left| \check{\bar{\tau}} \left( x - y - \frac{z}{2} \right) \right| dy \right) dz$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |\omega(y)| \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left| \check{\sigma} \left( x - y + \frac{z}{2} \right) \right| \left| \check{\bar{\tau}} \left( x - y - \frac{z}{2} \right) \right| dz \right) dy$$

$$\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |\omega(y)| \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left| \check{\sigma} \left( x - y + \frac{z}{2} \right) \right|^{2} dz \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left| \check{\bar{\tau}} \left( x - y - \frac{z}{2} \right) \right|^{2} dz \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} dy$$

$$= 2^{n} ||\varphi||_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{2} ||\sigma||_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} ||\tau||_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}.$$

Thus, by (9.1), (9.14), (9.19), Fubini's theorem and Lemma 9.3,

$$(\mathcal{F}_{2}Th)(x,\xi)$$

$$= (2\pi)^{-n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \omega(y) \left\{ (2\pi)^{-n/2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} e^{-iz \cdot \xi} \check{\sigma} \left( x - y + \frac{z}{2} \right) \overline{\check{\tau}} \left( x - y - \frac{z}{2} \right) dz \right\} dy$$

$$= (2\pi)^{-n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \omega(y) W(\check{\sigma}, \check{\tau})(x - y, \xi) dy$$

$$= (2\pi)^{-n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} W(\sigma, \check{\tau})(\xi, y - x) \omega(y) dy, \quad x, \xi \in \mathbb{R}^{n},$$

and hence, by (9.13), (9.14) and (9.18), (9.8) follows.

# 10 Another Product Formula for Wavelet Multipliers

We give in this chapter another formula for the product of two wavelet multipliers. In order to do this, we need a recall of a formula, in the paper [7] by Grossmann, Loupias and Stein, for the product of two Weyl transforms associated to functions in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n)$ . To this end, we need the notion of a twisted convolution.

As usual, we identify  $\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n$  with  $\mathbb{C}^n$  and any point (q, p) in  $\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n$  with the point z = q + ip in  $\mathbb{C}^n$ , and we define the symplectic form  $[\ ,\ ]$  on  $\mathbb{C}^n$  by

$$[z, w] = 2\operatorname{Im}(z \cdot \bar{w}), \quad z, w \in \mathbb{C}^n,$$

where

$$z = (z_1, z_2, \dots, z_n),$$
  
$$w = (w_1, w_2, \dots, w_n),$$

and

$$z \cdot \bar{w} = \sum_{j=1}^{n} z_j \bar{w}_j.$$

Now, for any fixed real number  $\lambda$ , we define the twisted convolution  $f *_{\lambda} g$  of two measurable functions f and g on  $\mathbb{C}^n$  by

$$(f *_{\lambda} g)(z) = \int_{\mathbb{C}^n} f(z - w)g(w)e^{i\lambda[z,w]}dw, \quad z \in \mathbb{C}^n,$$
 (10.1)

where dw is the Lebesgue measure on  $\mathbb{C}^n$ , provided that the integral exists. The following theorem can be found in the paper [7] by Grossmann, Loupias and Stein.

**Theorem 10.1** Let  $\sigma$  and  $\tau$  be functions in  $L^2(\mathbb{C}^n)$ . Then the product of the Weyl transforms  $W_{\sigma}: L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and  $W_{\tau}: L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ 

is the same as the Weyl transform  $W_{\omega}: L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , where  $\omega$  is the function in  $L^2(\mathbb{C}^n)$  given by

$$\hat{\omega} = (2\pi)^{-n} (\hat{\sigma} *_{\frac{1}{4}} \hat{\tau}).$$

A proof of Theorem 10.1 can be found in Chapter 9 of the book [22] by Wong.

Another ingredient in the derivation of another formula for the product of two wavelet multipliers is given in the following theorem.

**Theorem 10.2** Let  $\sigma \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , and let  $\varphi$  be any function in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \cap L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  such that  $\|\varphi\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)} = 1$ . Then the wavelet multiplier  $\varphi T_{\sigma} \bar{\varphi} : L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is the same as the Weyl transform  $W_{\sigma_{\varphi}} : L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , where

$$\sigma_{\varphi}(x,\xi) = (2\pi)^{-n/2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} W(\varphi,\varphi)(x,\xi-\eta)\sigma(\eta)d\eta, \quad x,\,\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n.$$
 (10.2)

**Proof:** By (9.12), we get, for all functions f in S,

$$((\varphi T_{\sigma}\bar{\varphi})f)(x) = (2\pi)^{-n/2}\varphi(x)(\check{\sigma}*\bar{\varphi}f)(x)$$

$$= (2\pi)^{-n/2}\varphi(x)\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}}\check{\sigma}(x-y)\bar{\varphi}(y)f(y)dy$$

$$= (2\pi)^{-n/2}\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}}\varphi(x)\check{\sigma}(x-y)\bar{\varphi}(y)f(y)dy$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}}h(x,y)f(y)dy, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^{n}, \qquad (10.3)$$

where

$$h(x,y) = (2\pi)^{-n/2} \varphi(x) \check{\sigma}(x-y) \bar{\varphi}(y), \quad x, y \in \mathbb{R}^n.$$
 (10.4)

Now, by (10.4), Fubini's theorem and Plancherel's theorem,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |h(x,y)|^2 dx dy$$

$$= (2\pi)^{-n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |\varphi(x)|^2 |\check{\sigma}(x-y)|^2 |\varphi(y)|^2 dx dy$$

$$= (2\pi)^{-n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |\varphi(y)|^2 \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |\varphi(x)|^2 |\check{\sigma}(x-y)|^2 dx \right) dy$$

$$\leq (2\pi)^{-n} \|\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{2} \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |\varphi(y)|^{2} dy \right) \|\check{\sigma}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{2}$$

$$= (2\pi)^{-n} \|\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{2} \|\varphi\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{2} \|\sigma\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{2} < \infty. \tag{10.5}$$

So, by (10.3)–(10.5),  $\varphi T_{\sigma} \bar{\varphi} : L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) \to L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$  is a Hilbert-Schmidt operator with kernel h, and hence, by Proposition 9.1, is the same as the Weyl transform  $W_{\sigma_{\sigma}} : L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) \to L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ , where

$$\sigma_{\varphi}(x,\xi) = (2\pi)^{n/2} (\mathcal{F}_2 Th)(x,\xi), \quad x,\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n.$$
 (10.6)

But, by (9.7) and (10.4),

$$(Th)(x,y) = h\left(x + \frac{y}{2}, x - \frac{y}{2}\right)$$
$$= (2\pi)^{-n/2} \varphi\left(x + \frac{y}{2}\right) \check{\sigma}(y) \bar{\varphi}\left(x - \frac{y}{2}\right), \quad x, y \in \mathbb{R}^n,$$

and hence by (7.6),

$$(\mathcal{F}_{2}Th)(x,\xi)$$

$$= (2\pi)^{-n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} e^{-i\xi \cdot y} \varphi\left(x + \frac{y}{2}\right) \check{\sigma}(y) \bar{\varphi}\left(x - \frac{y}{2}\right) dy$$

$$= (2\pi)^{-n} (W(\varphi, \varphi)(x, \cdot) * \sigma)(\xi), \quad x, \xi \in \mathbb{R}^{n}.$$
(10.7)

Hence, by (10.6) and (10.7), the proof is complete.

We can now give another formula for the product of two wavelet multipliers.

**Theorem 10.3** Let  $\sigma$  and  $\tau$  be functions in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , and let  $\varphi$  be any function in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \cap L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  such that  $\|\varphi\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)} = 1$ . Then the product of the wavelet multipliers  $\varphi T_{\sigma} \bar{\varphi} : L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and  $\varphi T_{\tau} \bar{\varphi} : L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is the same as the Weyl transform  $W_{\lambda} : L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , and  $\lambda$  is the function in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n)$  given by

$$\hat{\lambda} = (2\pi)^{-n} (\hat{\sigma}_{\varphi} *_{\frac{1}{4}} \hat{\tau}_{\varphi}),$$

where  $\sigma_{\varphi}$  and  $\tau_{\varphi}$  are defined by (10.2).

Theorem 10.3 is an immediate consequence of Theorems 10.1 and 10.2.

## 11 A Product Formula for Daubechies Operators

Let  $F \in L^2(\mathbb{C}^n)$ . Then the Daubechies operator is the bounded linear operator  $D_F: L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  defined by (5.23) for all functions f and g in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . We are interested in obtaining a formula for the product of two Daubechies operators in this chapter.

The starting point is the following theorem.

**Theorem 11.1** Let  $\Lambda$  be the function on  $\mathbb{C}^n$  defined by

$$\Lambda(z) = \pi^{-n} e^{-|z|^2}, \quad z \in \mathbb{C}^n. \tag{11.1}$$

Then, for all functions F in  $L^2(\mathbb{C}^n)$ , the Daubechies operator  $D_F: L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is the Weyl transform  $W_{F*\Lambda}: L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

Theorem 11.1 is Theorem 17.1 in the book [22] by Wong.

For any fixed real number  $\lambda$ , we define the  $\lambda$ -convolution  $f *^{\lambda} g$  of two measurable functions f and g on  $\mathbb{C}^n$  by

$$(f *^{\lambda} g)(z) = \int_{\mathbb{C}^n} f(z - \omega) g(\omega) e^{\lambda(z \cdot \bar{\omega} - |\omega|^2)} d\omega, \quad z \in \mathbb{C}^n,$$
 (11.2)

provided that the integral exists. We have the following result.

**Theorem 11.2** Let F and G be functions in  $L^2(\mathbb{C}^n)$ . If there exists a function H in  $L^2(\mathbb{C}^n)$  such that the Daubechies operator  $D_H: L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is the same as the product of the Daubechies operators  $D_F: L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and  $D_G: L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , then

$$\hat{H} = (2\pi)^{-n} (\hat{F} *^{\frac{1}{2}} \hat{G}). \tag{11.3}$$

**Proof:** By Theorem 11.1,

$$W_{H*\Lambda} = W_{F*\Lambda} W_{G*\Lambda}. \tag{11.4}$$

It follows from Theorem 10.1 and (11.4) that for all  $\zeta$  in  $\mathbb{C}^n$ .

$$(H * \Lambda)^{\wedge}(\zeta) = (2\pi)^{-n}((F * \Lambda)^{\wedge} *_{\frac{1}{4}} (G * \Lambda)^{\wedge}(\zeta). \tag{11.5}$$

By (11.1) and an easy computation, we get

$$\hat{\Lambda}(\zeta) = (2\pi)^{-n} e^{-\frac{|\zeta|^2}{4}}, \quad \zeta \in \mathbb{C}^n.$$
(11.6)

Thus, by (11.4)–(11.6) and the definition of a twisted convolution given in (10.1), we get

$$\hat{H}(\zeta)e^{-\frac{|\zeta|^{2}}{4}} = (2\pi)^{n}\{(\hat{F}\hat{\Lambda}) *_{\frac{1}{4}}(\hat{G}\hat{\Lambda})\}(\zeta) 
= (2\pi)^{-n} \int_{\mathbb{C}^{n}} \hat{F}(\zeta - \omega)e^{-\frac{1}{4}|\zeta - \omega|^{2}}\hat{G}(\omega)e^{-\frac{1}{4}|\omega|^{2}}e^{\frac{1}{4}i[\zeta,\omega]}d\omega 
= (2\pi)^{-n} \int_{\mathbb{C}^{n}} \hat{F}(\zeta - \omega)\hat{G}(\omega)e^{\frac{1}{4}\{-|\zeta - \omega|^{2} - |\omega|^{2} + i[\zeta,\omega]\}}d\omega. (11.7)$$

So, by (11.7),

$$\hat{H}(\zeta) = (2\pi)^{-n} \int_{\mathbb{C}^n} \hat{F}(\zeta - \omega) \hat{G}(\omega) e^{\frac{1}{4}\{|\zeta|^2 - |\zeta - \omega|^2 - |\omega|^2 + i[\zeta, \omega]\}} d\omega, \quad \zeta \in \mathbb{C}^n.$$
(11.8)

Now, for all  $\zeta$  and  $\omega$  in  $\mathbb{C}^n$ ,

$$|\zeta|^{2} - |\zeta - \omega|^{2} - |\omega|^{2} + i[\zeta, \omega]$$

$$= |\zeta|^{2} - |\zeta|^{2} + 2\operatorname{Re}(\zeta \cdot \bar{\omega}) - |\omega|^{2} - |\omega|^{2} + 2i\operatorname{Im}(\zeta \cdot \bar{\omega})$$

$$= 2(\zeta \cdot \bar{\omega}) - 2|\omega|^{2}. \tag{11.9}$$

Therefore, by (11.2), (11.8) and (11.9), we get, for all  $\zeta$  in  $\mathbb{C}^n$ ,

$$\hat{H}(\zeta) = (2\pi)^{-n} \int_{\mathbb{C}^n} \hat{F}(\zeta - \omega) \hat{G}(\omega) e^{\frac{1}{2}(\zeta \cdot \bar{\omega} - |\omega|^2)} d\omega,$$

and hence (11.3).

From the proof of Theorem 11.2, we get the following corollary.

Corollary 11.3 Let F and G be functions in  $L^2(\mathbb{C}^n)$  such that  $\hat{F} *^{\frac{1}{2}} \hat{G} \in L^2(\mathbb{C}^n)$ . Then there exists a function H in  $L^2(\mathbb{C}^n)$  such that  $\hat{H} = (2\pi)^{-n}$   $(\hat{F} *^{\frac{1}{2}} \hat{G})$  and the Daubechies operator  $D_H : L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is the product of the Daubechies operators  $D_F : L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and  $D_G : L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

**Remark 11.4** In general, for functions F and G in  $L^2(\mathbb{C}^n)$ , it is not true that  $\hat{F} *^{\frac{1}{2}} \hat{G} \in L^2(\mathbb{C}^n)$ . So, the product of two Daubechies operators associated to functions in  $L^2(\mathbb{C}^n)$  need not be a Daubechies operator associated to a function in  $L^2(\mathbb{C}^n)$ . This can best be seen from the following example.

**Example 11.5** Let W be the subset of  $\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}$  defined by

$$W = \{ (q, p) \in \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R} : 0 \le q, \, p \le 1 \}. \tag{11.10}$$

We identify points  $\omega$  and  $\zeta$  in  $\mathbb C$  with points (q,p) and  $(x,\xi)$  in  $\mathbb R \times \mathbb R$  respectively. Let  $F \in L^2(\mathbb C)$  be defined by

$$\hat{F}(q,p) = e^{-\frac{1}{4}|q|}\chi(p), \quad q, p \in \mathbb{R},$$
(11.11)

where  $\chi$  is the characteristic function on [-1,1], and let  $G \in L^2(\mathbb{C})$  be defined by

$$\hat{G}(\omega) = \begin{cases} e^{\frac{1}{2}|\omega|^2}, & \omega \in W, \\ 0, & \omega \notin W. \end{cases}$$
 (11.12)

Then, by (11.10)-(11.12),

$$\begin{split} &(\hat{F} *^{\frac{1}{2}} \hat{G})(\zeta) \\ &= \int_{W} \hat{F}(\zeta - \omega) \hat{G}(\omega) e^{-\frac{1}{2}|\omega|^{2}} e^{\frac{1}{2}\zeta\bar{\omega}} d\omega \\ &= \int_{0}^{1} \int_{0}^{1} e^{-\frac{1}{4}|x-q|} \chi(\xi - p) e^{\frac{1}{2}(qx+p\xi)} e^{\frac{1}{2}i(q\xi-px)} dq dp \\ &= \left( \int_{0}^{1} e^{-\frac{1}{4}|x-q|} e^{\frac{1}{2}qx+\frac{1}{2}iq\xi} dq \right) \left( \int_{0}^{1} \chi(\xi - p) e^{\frac{1}{2}p\xi-\frac{1}{2}ipx} dp \right) \end{split}$$
(11.13)

for all  $\zeta$  in  $\mathbb{C}$ . But for x > 1 and  $0 < \xi < 1$ , we get from (11.13)

$$(\hat{F} *^{\frac{1}{2}} \hat{G})(\zeta) = \left( \int_{0}^{1} e^{-\frac{1}{4}x} e^{\frac{1}{4}q(1+2\zeta)} dq \right) \left( \int_{0}^{1} e^{-\frac{1}{2}ip\zeta} dp \right)$$

$$= \frac{4e^{-\frac{1}{4}x}}{1+2\zeta} \left( e^{\frac{1}{4}(1+2\zeta)} - 1 \right) \frac{2i}{\zeta} \left( e^{-\frac{1}{2}i\zeta} - 1 \right)$$

$$= \frac{4e^{\frac{1}{4}x}}{1+2\zeta} \left( e^{\frac{1}{4}+\frac{1}{2}i\xi} - e^{-\frac{1}{2}x} \right) \frac{2i}{\zeta} \left( e^{\frac{1}{2}\xi} e^{-\frac{1}{2}ix} - 1 \right)$$

and hence  $\hat{F} *^{\frac{1}{2}} \hat{G} \notin L^2(\mathbb{C})$ .

In view of Remark 11.4 and Example 11.5, it is a natural problem to seek some subspace of  $L^2(\mathbb{C}^n)$  such that the product of two Daubechies operators associated to functions in the subspace is indeed a Daubechies operator associated to a function in  $L^2(\mathbb{C}^n)$ .

For any nonnegative real number c, we denote by  $S_c$  the set of all measurable functions F on  $\mathbb{C}^n$  such that

$$|\hat{F}(\zeta)| \le e^{-c|\zeta|^2} |f(\zeta)|, \quad \zeta \in \mathbb{C}^n,$$

for some function f in  $L^2(\mathbb{C}^n)$ . It is clear that  $\mathcal{S}_c$  is a subspace of  $L^2(\mathbb{C}^n)$  for all c > 0. It is also clear that if  $c \leq d$ , then  $\mathcal{S}_d \subseteq \mathcal{S}_c$ .

We can now give a formula for the product of two Daubechies operators associated to functions in  $S_c$ , where  $c > \frac{1+\sqrt{5}}{8}$ .

**Theorem 11.6** Let F and G be functions in  $S_c$ , where  $c > \frac{1+\sqrt{5}}{8}$ . Then the product of the Daubechies operators  $D_F: L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and  $D_G: L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is the same as the Daubechies operator  $D_H: L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , where  $H \in \bigcap_{0 < d < c'} S_d$ ,  $c' = c - \frac{1}{4} - \frac{4c^2}{8c+1} > 0$ , and

$$\hat{H} = (2\pi)^{-n} (\hat{F} *^{\frac{1}{2}} \hat{G}).$$

**Proof:** Let f and g be functions in  $L^2(\mathbb{C}^n)$  such that

$$|\hat{F}(\zeta)| \le e^{-c|\zeta|^2} |f(\zeta)| \tag{11.14}$$

and

$$|\hat{G}(\zeta)| \le e^{-c|\zeta|^2} |g(\zeta)| \tag{11.15}$$

for all  $\zeta$  in  $\mathbb{C}^n$ . Then, by (11.2), (11.14) and (11.15), we get, for all  $\zeta$  in  $\mathbb{C}^n$ ,

$$\begin{aligned} &|(\hat{F} *^{\frac{1}{2}} \hat{G})(\zeta)| \\ &= \left| \int_{\mathbb{C}^{n}} \hat{F}(\zeta - \omega) \hat{G}(\omega) e^{\frac{1}{2}(\zeta \cdot \bar{\omega} - |\omega|^{2})} d\omega \right| \\ &\leq \int_{\mathbb{C}^{n}} |\hat{F}(\zeta - \omega)| |\hat{G}(\omega)| e^{\frac{1}{2}|\zeta||\omega|} e^{-\frac{1}{2}|\omega|^{2}} d\omega \\ &\leq \int_{\mathbb{C}^{n}} e^{-c|\zeta - \omega|^{2}} |f(\zeta - \omega)| e^{-c|\omega|^{2}} |g(\omega)| e^{\frac{1}{4}(|\zeta|^{2} + |\omega|^{2})} e^{-\frac{1}{2}|\omega|^{2}} d\omega \\ &\leq e^{-(c - \frac{1}{4})|\zeta|^{2}} \int_{\mathbb{C}^{n}} |f(\zeta - \omega)| |g(\omega)| e^{2c\operatorname{Re}(\zeta \cdot \bar{\omega})} e^{-(2c + \frac{1}{4})|\omega|^{2}} d\omega. \end{aligned} \tag{11.16}$$

But, for any positive number  $\varepsilon$ , we have

$$2c\operatorname{Re}(\zeta \cdot \bar{\omega}) \leq 2c|\zeta \cdot \bar{\omega}| \leq 2c|\zeta||\omega|$$

$$= 2c\sqrt{\varepsilon}|\zeta|\frac{|\omega|}{\sqrt{\varepsilon}}$$

$$\leq c\left(\varepsilon|\zeta|^2 + \frac{1}{\varepsilon}|\omega|^2\right)$$
(11.17)

for all  $\zeta$  and  $\omega$  in  $\mathbb{C}^n$ . So, by (11.16) and (11.17), we have, for all  $\zeta$  in  $\mathbb{C}^n$ ,

$$|(\hat{F} *^{\frac{1}{2}} \hat{G})(\zeta)| \le e^{-(c - \frac{1}{4} - c\varepsilon)|\zeta|^2} \int_{\mathbb{C}^n} |f(\zeta - \omega)| |g(\omega)| e^{-(2c + \frac{1}{4} - \frac{c}{\varepsilon})|\omega|^2} d\omega.$$
 (11.18)

Since  $c > \frac{1+\sqrt{5}}{8}$ , it follows from (11.18) that for any positive number  $\varepsilon$  such that

$$\frac{c}{2c + \frac{1}{4}} < \varepsilon < 1 - \frac{1}{4c},\tag{11.19}$$

there exists a positive constant  $d_{\varepsilon}$  such that

$$|(\hat{F} *^{\frac{1}{2}} \hat{G})(\zeta)| \le e^{-c_{\varepsilon}|\zeta|^2} \int_{\mathbb{C}^n} |f(\zeta - \omega)||g(\omega)||e^{-d_{\varepsilon}|\omega|^2} d\omega, \quad \zeta \in \mathbb{C}^n, \quad (11.20)$$

where

$$c_{\varepsilon} = c - \frac{1}{4} - c\varepsilon. \tag{11.21}$$

Since, for any  $\varepsilon$  satisfying (11.19), the function  $|g|e^{-d_{\varepsilon}|\cdot|^2}$  is in  $L^1(\mathbb{C}^n)$ , it follows from Young's inequality that the function  $h_{\varepsilon}$  on  $\mathbb{C}^n$  defined by

$$h_{\varepsilon}(\zeta) = \int_{\mathbb{C}^n} |f(\zeta - \omega)| |g(\omega)| \, e^{-d_{\varepsilon}|\omega|^2} d\omega, \quad \zeta \in \mathbb{C}^n, \tag{11.22}$$

is in  $L^2(\mathbb{C}^n)$ . Thus, by (11.20) and (11.22),

$$|(\hat{F} *^{\frac{1}{2}} \hat{G})(\zeta)| \le e^{-c_{\epsilon}|\zeta|^{2}} h_{\epsilon}(\zeta), \quad \zeta \in \mathbb{C}^{n}, \tag{11.23}$$

for any  $\varepsilon$  satisfying (11.19). Now, by Plancherel's theorem, let  $H \in L^2(\mathbb{C}^n)$  be such that

$$\hat{H} = (2\pi)^{-n} (\hat{F} *^{\frac{1}{2}} \hat{G}). \tag{11.24}$$

Then, by (11.23) and (11.24),  $H \in \mathcal{S}_{c_{\epsilon}}$ , and hence, by (11.19) and (11.21),  $H \in \bigcap_{0 < d < c'} \mathcal{S}_{d}$ . That the Daubechies operator  $D_{H} : L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) \to L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$  is the product of the Daubechies operators  $D_{F} : L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) \to L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$  and  $D_{G} : L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) \to L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$  is then a consequence of (11.24) and Corollary 11.3.  $\square$ 

**Remark 11.7** The results in this chapter can be found in the paper [3] by Du and Wong.

#### References

- [1] I. Daubechies, Time-frequency localization operators: a geometric phase space approach, IEEE Trans. Inform. Theory 34 (1988), 605-612.
- [2] I. Daubechies, Ten Lectures on Wavelets, SIAM, 1992.
- [3] J. Du and M. W. Wong, A product formula for localization operators, Bull. Korean Math. Soc., to appear.
- [4] J. Du and M. W. Wong, Traces of localization operators, to appear.
- [5] G. B. Folland, *Harmonic Analysis in Phase Space*, Princeton University Press. 1989.
- [6] R. R. Goldberg, Fourier Transforms, Cambridge University Press, 1961.
- [7] A. Grossmann, G. Loupias and E. M. Stein, An algebra of pseudodifferential operators and quantum mechanics in phase space, Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble) 18 (1968), 343-368.
- [8] A. Grossmann, J. Morlet and T. Paul, Transforms associated to square integrable group representations I: General results, J. Math. Phys. 26 (1985), 2473–2479.
- [9] Z. He, Spectra of Localization Operators on Groups, Ph.D. Dissertation, York University, 1998.
- [10] Z. He and M. W. Wong, Localization operators associated to square integrable group representations, Panamer. Math. J. 6 (1) (1996), 93– 104.
- [11] Z. He and M. W. Wong, Wavelet multipliers and signals, J. Austral. Math. Soc. Ser. B 40 (1999), 437–446.

- [12] C. Heil and D. Walnut, Continuous and discrete wavelet transforms, SIAM Rev. 31(1989), 628-666.
- [13] H. J. Landau and H. O. Pollak, Prolate spheroidal wave functions, Fourier analysis and uncertainty, II, Bell Syst. Tech. J. 40 (1961), 65–84.
- [14] H. J. Landau and H. O. Pollak, Prolate spheroidal wave functions, Fourier analysis and uncertainty, III, Bell Syst. Tech. J. 41 (1962), 1295–1336.
- [15] J. C. T. Pool, Mathematical aspects of the Weyl correspondence, J. Math. Phys. 7 (1966), 66-76.
- [16] M. Reed and B. Simon, Methods of Modern Mathematical Physis I: Functional Analysis, Revised and Enlarged Edition, Academic Press, 1980.
- [17] B. Simon, Trace Ideals and their Applications, Cambridge University Press, 1979.
- [18] D. Slepian, On bandwidth, Proc. IEEE 64 (1976), 292-300.
- [19] D. Slepian, Some comments on Fourier analysis, uncertainty and modeling, SIAM Rev. 25 (1983), 379–393.
- [20] D. Slepian and H. O. Pollak, Prolate spheroidal wave functions, Fourier analysis and uncertainty, I, Bell Syst. Tech. J. 40 (1961), 43-64.
- [21] E. M. Stein and G. Weiss, Introduction to Fourier Analysis on Euclidean Spaces, Princeton University Press, 1971.
- [22] M. W. Wong, Weyl Transforms, Springer-Verlag, 1998.
- [23] M. W. Wong, An Introduction to Pseudo-Differential Operators, Second Edition, World Scientific, 1999.
- [24] K. Zhu, Operator Theory in Function Spaces, Marcel Dekker, 1990.

#### Index

admissible wavelet 1 affine group 34

compatible 17 complex interpolation 17 conjugate Hardy space 36

Daubechies operator 30, 63

eigenvalue 14 eigenvector 14 energy 51

Fourier multiplier 47 Fourier transform 27 Fourier transformation 44 Fourier-Wigner transform 54

group 1

Hardy space 36 Heisenberg group 31 Hilbert-Schmidt operator 55

intermediate space 18 interpolation space 18 inverse Fourier transform 53 inverse Fourier transformation 44

kernel 55

 $\lambda$ -convolution 63 Landau-Pollak-Slepian operator 50 left Haar measure 1 localization operator 9

non-unimodular 8

product 54 pseudo-differential operator 47

resolution of the identity 1 Riesz-Thorin theorem 10 right Haar measure 5

Schatten-von Neumann class 14 signal 51 signal analysis 30 singular value 14 square-integrable representation 1 Stone-von Neumann theorem 31 symplectic form 60

time and band-limited signal 51 trace 20 twisted convolution 60

unimodular 5

wavelet multiplier 44 wavelet transform 1 Weyl-Heisenberg group 24 Weyl transform 54 Wigner transform 54

#### Lecture Notes Series

- 1. M.-H. Kim (ed.), Topics in algebra, algebraic geometry and number theory, 1992
- 2. J. Tomiyama, The interplay between topological dynamics and theory of C\*-algebras, 1992; 2nd Printing, 1994
- 3. S. K. Kim, S. G. Lee and D. P. Chi (ed.), Proceedings of the 1st GARC Symposium on pure and applied mathematics, Part I,
  - II. Kim, C. Kang and C. S. Bae (ed.), Proceedings of the 1st GARC Symposium on pure and applied mathematics, Part II, 1993
- 4. T. P. Branson, The functional determinant, 1993
- 5. S. S.-T. Yau, Complex hyperface singularites with application in complex geometry, algebraic geometry and Lie algebra, 1993
- 6. P. Li, Lecture notes on geometric analysis, 1993
- 7. S.-H. Kye, Notes on operator algebras, 1993
- 8. K. Shiohama, An introduction to the geometry of Alexandrov spaces, 1993
- 9. J. M. Kim (ed.), Topics in algebra, algebraic geometry and number theory II, 1993
- 10. O. K. Yoon and H.-J. Kim, Introduction to differentiable manifolds, 1993
- 11. P. J. McKenna, Topological methods for asymmetric boundary value problems, 1993
- 12. P. B. Gilkey, Applications of spectral geometry to geometry and topology, 1993
- 13. K.-T. Kim, Geometry of bounded domains and the scaling techniques in several complex variables, 1993
- 14. L. Volevich, The Cauchy problem for convolution equations, 1994
- 15. L. Elden and H. S. Park, Numerical linear algebra algorithms on vector and parallel computers, 1993
- 16. H. J. Choe, Degenerate elliptic and parabolic equations and variational inequalities, 1993
- 17. S. K. Kim and H. J. Choe (ed.), Proceedings of the second GARC Symposium on pure and applied mathematics, Part I, The first Korea-Japan conference of partial differential equations, 1993
  - J. S. Bae and S. G. Lee (ed.), Proceedings of the second GARC Symposium on pure and applied mathematics, Part II, 1993
  - D. P. Chi, II. Kim and C.-II. Kang (ed.), Proceedings of the second GARC Symposium on pure and applied mathematics, Part III 1993
- 18. II.-J. Kim (ed.), Proceedings of GARC Workshop on geometry and topology ' 93, 1993
- 19. S. Wassermann, Exact C\*-algebras and related topics, 1994
- 20. S.-II. Kye, Notes on abstract harmonic analysis, 1994
- 21. K. T. Hahn, Bloch-Besov spaces and the boundary behavior of their functions, 1994
- 22. II. C. Myung, Non-unital composition algebras, 1994
- 23. P. B. Dubovskii, Mathematical theory of coagulation, 1994
- 24. J. C. Migliore, An introduction to deficiency modules and Liaison theory for subschemes of projective space, 1994
- 25. I. V. Dolgachev, Introduction to geometric invariant theory, 1994
- 26. D. McCullough, 3-Manifolds and their mappings, 1995
- 27. S. Matsumoto, Codimension one Anosov flows, 1995
- 28. J. Jaworowski, W. A. Kirk and S. Park, Antipodal points and fixed points, 1995
- 29. J. Oprea, Gottlieb groups, group actions, fixed points and rational homotopy, 1995
- 30. A. Vesnin, On volumes of some hyperbolic 3-manifolds, 1996
- 31. D. II. Lee, Complex Lie groups and observability, 1996
- 32. X. Xu, On vertex operator algebras, 1996
- 33. M. H. Kwack, Families of normal maps in several variables and classical theorems in complex analysis, 1996
- 34. A. V. Fursikov and O. Yu. Imanuvilov, Controllability of evolution equations, 1996
- 35. Y. W. Lee, Introduction to knot theory, 1996
- 36. H. Kitahara, Some topics on Carnot-Caratheodory metrics, 1996; 2nd Printing (revised), 1998
- 37. D. Auckly, Homotopy K3 surfaces and gluing results in seiberg-witten theory, 1996
- 38. D. H. Chae (ed.), Proceedings of Miniconference of Partial Differential Equations and Applications, 1997
- 39. H. J. Choe and H. O. Bae (ed.), Proceedings of Korea-Japan Partial Differential Equations Conference, 1997
- 40. P. B. Gilkey, J. V. Leahy and J. G. Park, Spinors, spectral geometry, and Riemannian submersions, 1998
- 41. D.-P. Chi and G. J. Yun, Gromov-Hausdorff topology and its applications to Riemannian manifolds, 1998
- 42. D. II. Chae and S.-K. Kim (ed.), Proceedings of international workshop on mathematical and physical aspects of nonlinear field theories, 1998
- 43. II. Kosaki, Type III Factors and Index Theory, 1998
- 44. A. V. Kim and V. G. Pimenov, Numerical methods for delay differential equations Application of i-smooth calculus-, 1999
- 45. I. M. Landsberg, Algebraic Geometry and projective differential geometry, 1999
- 46. S. Y. Choi, H. Kim and H. K. Lee(ed.), The Proceedings of the Conference on Geometric Structures on Manifolds, 1999
- 47. M. W. Wong, Localization Operators, 1999

\*